
Monadnock Regional School District & SAU #93 
School Board Agenda 
    October 3rd, 2023  

Gilsum STEAM Academy, Gilsum NH  
 

The public is encouraged to attend MRSD Board meetings.  
 Comments are welcome during the ‘Public Comments’ portions of the agenda.  

 

“We collaborate not just to teach, but also to engage and educate every student in our district in an environment that is 
challenging, caring, and safe, while fostering lifelong learning.” 

 
1. Tour of Gilsum School  6:30 pm 
2. CALL THE MEETING TO ORDER ~7:00 pm, upon completion of the tour 
3. PUBLIC COMMENTS (15 minutes) 
4. #celebrateMRSD 
5. MATTERS FOR SCHOOL BOARD INFORMATION & DISCUSSION 

a. Policies for 1st Read:  
i. EHAB- Data Governance and Security 

ii. JCA- Change of Class of School or Assignment Best Interests and Manifest Hardship 
iii. JKAA- Use of Restraints and Seclusion 

b. Recap of Modern Governance Seminar 
c. Staffing Update 
d. 2023/24 School Board Goals 

i. Superintendent Search Update 
e. Definitions:  Consent Agenda 

6. MATTERS THAT REQUIRE BOARD ACTION 
a. * Approve the Consent Agenda 

i. September 19, 2023 Minutes (public and non-public) 
ii. Manifest 

iii. Budget Transfers 
iv. Buildings & Grounds Truck w/ Plow Bids 

b. * Approve Appreciation Lunch or Swag for Education Support Professionals Day (11/15) 
7. SETTING NEXT MEETING’S AGENDA 
8. PUBLIC COMMENTS (15 minutes) 
9. NON-PUBLIC SESSIONS under RSA 91-A:3. II 

a. * TBD as needed 
10. ADJOURNMENT 

*Indicates an item requiring action.  The order of the agenda is subject to change. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SINGLE DISTRICT SCHOOL ADMINISTRATIVE UNITS 

RSA 94-C:3 – Single District School Administrative Units; Exemption. Single district school administrative units shall be considered 
the same as a single school district and shall be exempt from meeting the requirements of this chapter, except that they shall provide 
superintendent services pursuant to RSA 194-C:4 

NONPUBLIC SESSIONS 

RSA 91-A:3– II. Only the following matters shall be considered or acted upon in nonpublic session: 

(a) The dismissal, promotion, or compensation of any public employee or the disciplining of such employee, or the investigation of 
any charges against him or her, unless the employee affected (1) has a right to a meeting and (2) requests that the meeting be open, in 
which case the request shall be granted. 

(b) The hiring of any person as a public employee. 

(c) Matters which, if discussed in public, would likely adversely affect the reputation of any person, other than a member of the 
public body itself, unless such person requests an open meeting. 

(d) Consideration of the acquisition, sale, or lease of real or personal property which, if discussed in public, would likely benefit a 
party or parties whose interests are adverse to those of the general community. 

(e) Consideration or negotiation of pending claims or litigation which has been threatened in writing or filed by or against the 
public body or any subdivision thereof, or by or against any member thereof because of his or her membership in such public body, 
until the claim or litigation has been fully adjudicated or otherwise settled. 

(i) Consideration of matters relating to the preparation for and the carrying out of emergency functions, including training to carry 
out such functions, developed by local or state safety officials that are directly intended to thwart a deliberate act that is intended to 
result in widespread or severe damage to property or widespread injury or loss of life. 

(j) Consideration of confidential, commercial, or financial information that is exempt from public disclosure under RSA 91-A:5, 
IV in an adjudicative proceeding pursuant to RSA 541 or RSA 541-A. 

(k) Consideration by a school board of entering into a student or pupil tuition contract authorized by RSA 194 or RSA 195-A, 

(l) Consideration of legal advice provided by legal counsel, either in writing or orally, to one or more members of the public body, 
even where legal counsel is not present. 

CALENDAR OF UPCOMING MRSD MEETINGS:   
 
10/03/2023  MRSD/SAU 93 School Board  7:00 pm Gilsum STEAM Academy 
10/10/2023 Finance & Facilities Committee 7:00 pm SAU Conference Room 
10/11/2023 Extra-Curricular Committee  6:00 pm SAU Conference Room 
10/12/2023 Superintendent Search Committee 6:30 pm Wilcox Conference Center 
10/17/2023 MRSD/SAU 93 School Board  7:00 pm MRMHS Library 
10/19/2023 Policy Committee   7:00 pm SAU Conference Room 
10/23/2023 Superintendent Search Committee 6:30 pm Wilcox Conference Center 
10/24/2023 Budget Committee   7:00 pm MRMHS Library 
 
 
 
Meetings will be in person for all Board & Committee Members. The public is encouraged & welcome to attend either in 
person or through Zoom. Public comments are welcome in person during the ‘Public Comments’ portions of the agenda.   
 
** Please note: All Committee Meeting dates, times, and locations are posted in the SAU 93 Reception Lobby, on the MRSD 
website calendar, and in the schools and towns of MRSD. In the event of a snow day, the school board meeting will be planned 
for the following school day.** 



Policy Motions and Actions from September 21, 2023

EHAB- Data Governance and Security

MOTION: To update policy EHAB with NHSBA sample and committee edits.

● Required by law
● NHSBA Rationale: sample EHAB was revised in response to passage of SB213,

which amended both RSA 189:66, V and RSA 189:70, IV(b). The revisions to
sample EHAB included adding new paragraph B.1(f), and a second paragraph to
Section G, both acknowledging the exceptions created by SB213 relative to
allowing student social media accounts (with parental consent) relative to career
exploration or CTE participation to be included in a program of studies. “PII” was
also added to the definition of confidential data in Section A.

JCA- Change of Class of School or Assignment Best Interests and Manifest
Hardship

MOTION: To update policy JCA with NHSBA sample and committee updates.

● Required by law
● Revisions include clarification of board's authority to approve Superintendent's

assignment of students to approved private schools (see 2023 passage of
SB77), as well as other revisions: (1) clarifying standards for consideration of
requests for assignment to private schools, and annual review of both best
interest and manifest hardship assignments, (2) adding language to section and
footnote regarding transportation obligations in manifest hardship cases, and (3)
minor format/grammar changes.

JKAA- Use of Restraints and Seclusion

MOTION: To update policy JKAA with NHSBA sample.

● Required by law



● Substantial revisions and reformatting throughout. The impetus for revision was
the 2023 passage of SB179 and HB491, both amending provisions of RSA
126-U. SB179 refined the definition of seclusion, and added a requirement for
use of “co-regulators”. SB179 further requires the Dept. of Education and Dept. of
Health and Human Services to develop a form for reporting the information
required in RSA 126-U:7, II. As of preliminary release of this revision (9/8/2023),
the form had not been released. HB491 added a specific definition and
prohibition of the use of “prone restraint” (previously would have been prohibited
as a form of dangerous restraint technique). Sections also added to sample
policy relative to mandated reporting for violations of RSA 126-U, and review of
IEPs, 504 plans, behavior intervention plans, or other such invidualized plans
following use of restraint or seclusion.

Committee work not requiring board action

ACN- Nursing Mothers Accommodation

MOTION: Refer policy ACN to administration with edits.

● New policy required by law
● Comments within document
● NHSBA rationale: his new sample policy is intended to reflect the requirements of

HB358 (RSA 275:78-83 and the federal Pump for Nursing Mothers (“PUMP”) Act,
both of which mandate certain accommodations for nursing mothers. Additionally,
the federal Pregnant Worker Fairness Act ("PWFA") also provides
non�discrimination protections for pregnancy related conditions which include
post-delivery (e.g., nursing). The PWFA, however, does not include specific
provisions relating to nursing, and the provisions of this sample will meet the
PWFA's requirements.) While the provisions from HB358 largely parallel some of
the requirements of the PUMP, there are some very significant distinctions.
Important distinctions include: the PUMP Act does not require employers to adopt
a policy concerning expression of milk; while, HB358 does; the PUMP Act
implicitly includes breastfeeding, while HB358 explicitly excludes it and only



addresses expression of milk by "manual or mechanical means;" the PUMP Act
provides an undue hardship exception for employers with less than 50
employees, while HB358 does not give a prerequisite number of employees for
the undue hardship exception. As to the differences in the statute, it is important
to note that in many respects the PUMP Act will take priority over the provisions
of HB358, especially with respect to the limitations on the hardship exception for
districts with more than 50 employees. For a more thorough discussion of the
differences and similarities of the two laws,please see the 2023 Legislative
Summary entry for HB358. NHSBA revised sample.

GBCD- Background Investigation and Criminal History Records Check

MOTION: To refer policy GBCD to administration.

● This policy is required by law
● NHSBA Rationale: Sample revised to reflect: (1) passage of SB39, which

reversed the 2020 legislation making the state responsible for criminal history
records checks for transportation monitors, and (2) passage of SB136, prohibiting
employment or appointment as volunteers of educators whose credentials have
been revoked or are under current suspension. The changes relative to bus
monitors are found in D.2 and footnotes 5 and 10, and the changes relative to
suspended/revoked credentials are found in Section B. The only other significant
change is found in Section D.5, wherein language allowing the Superintendent to
share information about a criminal record for misdemeanor hires has been
revised, with modifications to footnote 8 made to explain options the Board has
for a district's policy concerning hiring of persons whose criminal history records
check reveals charges, whether convicted or not, for non-section V offenses, and
possible charges of Section V offenses that were later pled down or dismissed.
Additional minor revisions throughout for clarification and/or style.



9/21/23, 5:52 PM BoardDocs® LT

https://go.boarddocs.com/nh/mrsd/Board.nsf/Public# 1/4

Book E: Support Services

Section Series E

Title Data Governance and Security

Code EHAB

Status Active

Adopted March 5, 2019

Last Revised December 6, 2022

DATA GOVERNANCE AND SECURITY
 
To accomplish the District's mission and comply with the law, the District must collect, create and store information.
Accurately maintaining and protecting this data is important for efficient District operations, compliance with laws
mandating confidentiality, and maintaining the trust of the District's stakeholders. All persons who have access to
District data are required to follow state and federal law, District policies and procedures, and other rules created to
protect the information.  The provisions of this policy shall supersede and take precedence over any contrary
provisions of any other policy adopted prior to the date of this policy.
 
A. Definitions
Confidential Data/Information - Information that the District is prohibited by law, policy or contract from disclosing
or that the District may disclose only in limited circumstances. Confidential data includes, but is not limited to,
personally identifiable information regarding students and employees.
 
Critical Data/Information - Information that is determined to be essential to District operations and that must be
accurately and securely maintained to avoid disruption to District operations. Critical data is not necessarily
confidential.
 
B. Data and Privacy Governance Plan - Administrative Procedures.
1. Data Governance Plan. The Superintendent, in consultation with the District Information Security Officer
("ISO") (See paragraph C, below) shall create a Data and Privacy Governance Plan ("Data Governance
Plan"), to be presented to the Board no later than June 30, 2019. Thereafter, the Superintendent, in consultation with
the ISO, shall update the Data Governance Plan for presentation to the Board no later than June 30 each year.  Due
to internet security risks, the detailed contents of this governance plan shall be safeguarded.
 
The Data Governance Plan shall include:
(a) An inventory of all software applications, digital tools, and extensions. The inventory shall include users of the
applications, the provider, purpose, publisher, privacy statement, and terms of use;



9/21/23, 5:52 PM BoardDocs® LT

https://go.boarddocs.com/nh/mrsd/Board.nsf/Public# 2/4

(b) A review of all software applications, digital tools, and extensions and an assurance that they meet or exceed
minimum standards set by the New Hampshire Department of Education;
(c) Policies and procedures for access to data and protection of privacy for students and staff including acceptable use
policy for applications, digital tools, and extensions used on District hardware, server(s) or through the District
network(s);
(d) A response plan for any breach of information; and
(e) A requirement for a service provider to meet or exceed standards for data protection and privacy.
 
2. Policies and Administrative Procedures. The Superintendent, in consultation with the ISO, is directed to review,
modify and recommend (policies) create (administrative procedures), where necessary, relative to collecting,
securing, and correctly disposing of District data (including, but not limited to Confidential and
Critical Data/Information, and as otherwise necessary to implement this policy and the Data Governance
Plan. Such policies and/or procedures will may or may not be included in the annual Data Governance Plan.
 
C. Information Security Officer.
The Superintendent shall designate a member of his/her administrative team to serve as the District's Information
Security Officer (ISO). The ISO is responsible for implementing and enforcing the District's security policies and
administrative procedures applicable to digital and other electronic data, and suggesting changes to these policies, the
Data Governance Plan, and procedures to better protect the confidentiality and security of District data. The ISO will
work with the both District and building level administrators and Data managers (paragraph E, below) to advocate
for resources, including training, to best secure the District's data.
 
 
D. Responsibility and Data Stewardship.
All District employees, volunteers and agents are responsible for accurately collecting, maintaining and securing
District data including, but not limited to, Confidential and/or Critical Data/Information.
 
E. Data Managers.
All District administrators are data managers for all data collected, maintained, used and disseminated under their
supervision as well as data they have been assigned to manage in the District's data inventory. Data managers will
monitor employee access to the information to ensure that confidential information is accessed only by employees
who need the information to provide services to the District and that confidential and critical information is modified
only by authorized employees. Data managers will assist the ISO in enforcing District policies and procedures
regarding data management.
 
F. Confidential and Critical Information.
The District will collect, create or store confidential information only when the Superintendent or designee
determines it is necessary, and in accordance with applicable law. The District will provide access to confidential
information to appropriately trained District employees and volunteers only when the District determines that such
access is necessary for the performance of their duties. The District will disclose confidential information only to
authorized District contractors or agents who need access to the information to provide services to the District and
who agree not to disclose the information to any other party except as allowed by law and authorized by the District.

District employees, contractors and agents will notify the ISO or designee immediately if there is reason to believe
confidential information has been disclosed to an unauthorized person or any information has been compromised,
whether intentionally or otherwise.

The Superintendent and/or the ISO shall immediately report any known or suspected cybersecurity incidents within



9/21/23, 5:52 PM BoardDocs® LT

https://go.boarddocs.com/nh/mrsd/Board.nsf/Public# 3/4

the District’s information systems, or within an information system of any vendor of the District, to the
New Hampshire Cyber Integration Center of the Department of Information Technology. The Superintendent and/or
the ISO shall disclose all known information and interactions. See RSA 31:103-b.

The ISO or designee will investigate immediately and take any action necessary to secure the information, issue all
required legal notices and prevent future incidents. When necessary, the Superintendent, ISO, or designee is
authorized to secure resources to assist the District in promptly and appropriately addressing a security breach.
As a part of this investigation, the ISO or designee will promptly determine the likelihood that any information part of
a cybersecurity incident has been or will be misused. If the determination is that the misuse of information has
occurred or is reasonably likely to occur, or if a determination cannot be made, the ISO will notify the affected
individuals as soon as possible, consistent with the notification requirements under RSA 359-C:20.

Likewise, the District will take steps to ensure that critical information is secure and is not inappropriately altered,
deleted, destroyed or rendered inaccessible. Access to critical information will only be provided to authorized
individuals in a manner that keeps the information secure.

All District staff, volunteers, contractors, and agents who are granted access to critical or confidential
information/data are required to keep the information secure and are prohibited from disclosing or assisting in the
unauthorized disclosure of such confidential or critical data/information. All individuals using confidential and critical
data/information will strictly observe all administrative procedures, policies, and other protections put into place by
the District including, but not limited to, maintaining information in locked rooms or drawers, limiting access to
electronic files, updating and maintaining the confidentiality of password protections, encrypting and redacting
information, and disposing of information no longer needed in a confidential and secure manner.
 
G. Using Online Services and Applications.
District staff members are encouraged to research and utilize online services or applications to engage students and
further the District's education mission. District employees, however, are prohibited from installing or using
applications, programs or other software, or online system/website, that either stores, collects or shares confidential or
critical data/information, until the ISO approves the vendor and the software or service used.
Before approving the use or purchase of any such software or online service, the ISO or designee shall verify that it
meets the requirements of the law, Board policy, and the Data Governance Plan, and that it appropriately protects
confidential and critical data/information. This prior approval is also required whether or not the software or online
service is obtained or used without charge.
 
H. Training.
The ISO will provide appropriate training to employees who have access to confidential or critical information to
prevent unauthorized disclosures or breaches in security. All school employees will receive annual training in the
confidentiality of student records, and the requirements of this policy and related procedures and rules.
 
I. Data Retention and Deletion.
The ISO or designee shall establish a retention schedule for the regular archiving and deletion of data stored on
District technology resources. The retention schedule should comply with, and be incorporated [by reference] into
the data/record retention schedule established under Policy EHB and administrative procedure EHBR, including but
not limited to, provisions relating to Litigation and Right to Know holds as described in Policy EHB.
 
J. Consequences



9/21/23, 5:52 PM BoardDocs® LT

https://go.boarddocs.com/nh/mrsd/Board.nsf/Public# 4/4

The District may end business relationships with any contractor who fails to follow the law, District policies or
procedures, or the confidentiality provisions of any contract.
The District may suspend all access to data or use of District technology resources pending an investigation.
Violations may result in temporary, long-term or permanent suspension of user privileges. The District will cooperate
with law enforcement in investigating any unlawful actions.
 
Revision Dates: 12/6/2022
Category: Priority/Required by Law
Related Policies EHAA, EHB, GBEBD, GBEF,
IHBH, JICJ, JICL, JICM, KD, & KDC
 
Legal References:
15 U.S.C. §§ 6501-6506 * Children's Online Privacy Protection Act (COPPA)
20 U.S.C. § 1232g * Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)
20 U.S.C. § 1232h * Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (PPRA)
20 U.S.C. § 1400-1417 * Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA)
20 U.S.C. § 7926 * Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESSA)
RSA 189:65 * Definitions
RSA 186:66 * Student Information Protection and Privacy
RSA 189:67 * Limits on Disclosure of Information
RSA 189:68 * Student Privacy
RSA 189:68-a * Student Online Personal Information
RSA 359-C:19-21 * Right to Privacy/Notice of Security Breach



Board Policy Manual 
NHSBA Policy Management Console 

Policy EHAB: Data Governance and Security Status: DRAFT 

Original Adopted Date: 09/01/2018 | Last Revised Date: Pending | Last Reviewed Date: 
08/01/2022 

 

 
Category:  Priority/Required by Law 
 
~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~  
ADOPTION/REVISION NOTES –  
Text between the highlighted lines “~ ~ ~ ~”, and highlights in this sample should be removed prior to 
adoption.  

a. General – As with all sample policies, NHSBA recommends that each district carefully review this 
sample prior to adoption/revision to assure suitability with the district’s own specific 
circumstances, internal coding system, current policies, and organizational structures.   

b. General – Highlighted language or blank, underscored spaces indicate areas which Boards should 
review, change or complete to reflect local personnel titles, internal/ external policy references, 
duty assignments etc. 

c. General – {**} indicates a reference to another NHSBA sample policy.  A district should check its 
own current policies and codes to assure internal consistency. 

d. General – Withdrawn & earlier versions of revised policies should be maintained separately as 
part of the permanent records of the District.  

NHSBA history:  Revised - Sept. 2023, August 2022; New policy – September 2018 
 
NHSBA revision notes, September 2023,  revised EHAB by adding paragraph B.1(f), and second 
paragraph to Section G, both in response to passage of SB213, amending both RSA 189:66, V and 
RSA 189:70, IV(b).  Also added "PII" to definition of confidential data in Section A.  August 2022, 
revised Section B(1)(d) and Section F reflect the 2022 passage of HB1277 enacting new RSA 
31:103-b (applicable to school districts as political subdivisions of the state), as well existing 359-
C:19-21, regarding cybersecurity incidents and data breaches respectively; also updated legal 
references and added additional reference to and resources from the New Hampshire Department 
of Education. September 2018, this policy was created to reflect the requirements of RSA 189:66, 
V. Districts adopting this sample are advised to closely review their current technology policies for 
provisions which may be in conflict with provisions of this sample EHAB. 
 
~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 
 
To accomplish the District's mission and comply with the law, the District must collect, create and 
store information. Accurately maintaining and protecting this data is important for efficient District 
operations, compliance with laws mandating confidentiality, and maintaining the trust of the 
District's stakeholders. All persons who have access to District data are required to follow state and 
federal law, District policies and procedures, and other rules created to protect the information. 
 
The provisions of this policy shall supersede and take precedence over any contrary provisions of 
any other policy adopted prior to the date of this policy.   
 
A.  Definitions 
 



Confidential Data/Information - Information that the District is prohibited by law, policy, or 
contract from disclosing or that the District may disclose only in limited circumstances. Confidential 
data includes, but is not limited to, personally identifiable information (i.e., "PII") regarding students 
and employees. 
 
Critical Data/Information - Information that is determined to be essential to District operations and 
that must be accurately and securely maintained to avoid disruption to District operations. Critical 
data is not necessarily confidential. 
 
Cybersecurity Incident – an occurrence that actually or potentially jeopardizes the confidentiality, 
integrity, or availability of an information system or the information processes, stores, or transmits, 
if that constitutes a violation or imminent threat of violation of security policies, security 
procedures, or acceptable use policies. 
 
B.  Data and Privacy Governance Plan - Administrative Procedures.  

1. Data Governance Plan. The Superintendent, in consultation with the District Information 
Security Officer (“ISO”) (see paragraph C, below), shall update the Data and Privacy 
Governance Plan (“Data Governance Plan”) for presentation to the Board no later than June 
30 each year. [1delete Fn.] 
 
The Data Governance Plan shall include: 
   

a. An inventory of all software applications, digital tools, and extensions.  The 
inventory shall include users of the applications, the provider, purpose, publisher, 
privacy statement, and terms of use; 
  

b. A review of all software applications, digital tools, and extensions and an assurance 
that they meet or exceed minimum standards set by the New Hampshire 
Department of Education; 
  

c. Policies and procedures for access to data and protection of privacy for students 
and staff including acceptable use policy for applications, digital tools, and 
extensions used on District hardware, server(s) or through the District network(s); 
  

d. A response plan for any breach of information/cybersecurity incidents; see RSA 
31:103-b and RSA 359-C:19-21; and 
  

e. A requirement for a service provider to meet or exceed standards for data 
protection and privacy; and 
  

f. A provision that students participating in career exploration or career technical 
education may, with written parental consent, register for technology platforms and 
services to be used as part of the student's approved program of study, which 
require the provision of personally identifiable information. Copies of written 
parental consent shall be retained as part of a student's educational record. 
 
The Data Governance Plan shall include standards and provisions that meet or 
exceed the standards set forth in the N.H. Dept. of Education’s Minimum Standards 
for Privacy and Security of Student and Employee Data. 

2. Policies and Administrative Procedures. The Superintendent, in consultation with the ISO, is 
directed to review, modify, and recommend (policies) create (administrative procedures), 
where necessary, relative to collecting, securing, and correctly disposing of District data 
(including, but not limited to Confidential and Critical Data/Information, and as otherwise 



necessary to implement this policy and the Data Governance Plan.  Such policies and/or 
procedures may or may not be included in the annual Data Governance Plan. 

C.   Information Security Officer. 
 
The Director of Technology is hereby designated as the District's Information Security Officer (ISO) 
and reports directly to the Superintendent or designee. The ISO is responsible for implementing 
and enforcing the District's security policies and administrative procedures applicable to digital and 
other electronic data, and suggesting changes to these policies, the Data Governance Plan, and 
procedures to better protect the confidentiality and security of District data. The ISO will work 
with both the District and building level administrators and Data managers (paragraph E, below) to 
advocate for resources, including training, to best secure the District's data. 
 
The Superintendent will designate an alternate ISO who will assume the responsibilities of the ISO 
when the ISO is not available. 
 
D.  Responsibility and Data Stewardship. 
 
All District employees, volunteers and agents are responsible for accurately collecting, maintaining, 
and securing District data including, but not limited to, confidential and/or critical data/information. 
 
E.  Data Managers. 
 
All District administrators are data managers for all data collected, maintained, used and 
disseminated under their supervision as well as data they have been assigned to manage in the 
District's data inventory. Data managers will monitor employee access to the information to ensure 
that confidential information is accessed only by employees who need the information to provide 
services to the District and that confidential and critical information is modified only by authorized 
employees. Data managers will assist the ISO in enforcing District policies and procedures 
regarding data management. 
 
F.  Confidential and Critical Information. 
 
The District will collect, create or store confidential information only when the Superintendent or 
designee determines it is necessary, and in accordance with applicable law. The District will provide 
access to confidential information to appropriately trained District employees and volunteers only 
when the District determines that such access is necessary for the performance of their duties. The 
District will disclose confidential information only to authorized District contractors or agents who 
need access to the information to provide services to the District and who agree not to disclose the 
information to any other party except as allowed by law and authorized by the District. 
 
District employees, contractors and agents will notify the ISO or designee immediately if there is 
reason to believe confidential information has been disclosed to an unauthorized person or any 
information has been compromised, whether intentionally or otherwise. 
 
The Superintendent and/or the ISO shall immediately report any known or suspected cybersecurity 
incidents within the District’s information systems, or within an information system of any vendor 
of the District, to the New Hampshire Cyber Integration Center of the Department of Information 
Technology. The Superintendent and/or the ISO shall disclose all known information and 
interactions. See RSA 31:103-b. 
 
The ISO or designee will investigate immediately and take any action necessary to secure the 



information, issue all required legal notices and prevent future incidents. When necessary, the 
Superintendent, ISO, or designee is authorized to secure resources to assist the District in promptly 
and appropriately addressing a security breach. 
 
As a part of this investigation, the ISO or designee will promptly determine the likelihood that any 
information part of a cybersecurity incident has been or will be misused. If the determination is that 
the misuse of information has occurred or is reasonably likely to occur, or if a determination cannot 
be made, the ISO will notify the affected individuals as soon as possible, consistent with the 
notification requirements under RSA 359-C:20. 
 
Likewise, the District will take steps to ensure that critical information is secure and is not 
inappropriately altered, deleted, destroyed or rendered inaccessible. Access to critical information 
will only be provided to authorized individuals in a manner that keeps the information secure. 
 
All District staff, volunteers, contractors, and agents who are granted access to critical or 
confidential information/data are required to keep the information secure and are prohibited from 
disclosing or assisting in the unauthorized disclosure of such confidential or critical 
data/information.  All individuals using confidential and critical data/information will strictly 
observe all administrative procedures, policies, and other protections put into place by the District 
including, but not limited to, maintaining information in locked rooms or drawers, limiting access to 
electronic files, updating and maintaining the confidentiality of password protections, encrypting 
and redacting information, and disposing of information no longer needed in a confidential and 
secure manner. 
 
G.  Using Online Services and Applications. 
 
District staff members are encouraged to research and utilize online services or applications to 
engage students and further the District's education mission. District employees, however, are 
prohibited from installing or using applications, programs or other software, or online 
system/website, that either stores, collects, or shares confidential or critical data/information, until 
the ISO approves the vendor and the software or service used.  Before approving the use or 
purchase of any such software or online service, the ISO or designee shall verify that it meets the 
requirements of the law, Board policy, and the Data Governance Plan, and that it appropriately 
protects confidential and critical data/information. This prior approval is also required whether or 
not the software or online service is obtained or used without charge. 
 
Notwithstanding the prohibition on the use of applications, etc. that store, collect or share 
personally identifiable information concerning a student ("PII"), students participating in career 
exploration or career technical education may, with written parental consent, register for 
technology platforms and services to be used as part of the student's approved program of study, 
even if said platforms and services require the collection, storage and sharing of the student’s PII. 
Use of these platforms and services is subject to the conditions set forth in B.1(f), above, and 
related provisions of the Data Governance Plan. The written parental consent forms shall be 
retained as student records. 
 
H.  Training. 
 
The ISO will provide appropriate training to employees who have access to confidential or critical 
information to prevent unauthorized disclosures or breaches in security. All school employees will 
receive annual training in the confidentiality of student records, and the requirements of this policy 
and related procedures and rules. 
 



I.  Data Retention and Deletion. 
 
The ISO or designee shall establish a retention schedule for the regular archiving and deletion of 
data stored on District technology resources. The retention schedule should comply with, and be 
incorporated [by reference into the data/record retention schedule established under Board 
policy {**}EHB and administrative procedure {**}EHB-R], including but not limited to, provisions 
relating to Litigation and Right to Know holds as described in Board policy {**}EHB].   
 
J.  Consequences 
Employees who fail to follow the law, or District policies or procedures, regarding data governance 
and security (including failing to report) may be disciplined, up to and including termination. 
Volunteers may be excluded from providing services to the District. The District will end business 
relationships with any contractor who fails to follow the law, District policies or procedures, or the 
confidentiality provisions of any contract. In addition, the District reserves the right to seek all 
other legal remedies, including criminal and civil action and seeking discipline of an employee's 
teaching certificate. 
 
The District may suspend all access to data or use of District technology resources pending an 
investigation. Violations may result in temporary, long-term, or permanent suspension of user 
privileges.  The District will cooperate with law enforcement in investigating any unlawful actions. 
The Superintendent or designee has the authority to sign any criminal complaint on behalf of the 
District. 
 
Any attempted violation of District policies, procedures, or other rules will result in the same 
consequences, regardless of the success of the attempt.  
   

 
1 [delete Fn.] The policy previously stated that the Superintendent and the ISO were to create a 
Data Governance Plan to be presented to the Board no later than June 30, 2019. Districts should 
have created a Data Governance Plan by now, but if not, the Superintendent, in consultation with 
the ISO, should do so. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 
District Policy History:  

First reading:                                                   
Second reading/adopted:                                 
 
District revision history: 

   

  

 



  

DISCLAIMER: This sample policy manual is copyrighted to the New Hampshire School Boards Association and is intended for the sole and 
exclusive use of NHSBA Policy Service Subscribers. No portion of this manual may be reproduced, copied, transmitted, distributed, in any form, 
except as needed for the development of policy by a subscribing district. The materials contained in the manual are provided for general 
information only and as a resource to assist subscribing districts with policy development. School districts and boards of education should consult 
with legal counsel and revise all sample policies and regulations to address local facts and circumstances prior to adoption. NHSBA continually 
makes revisions based on school districts' needs and local, state and federal laws, regulations and court decisions, and other relevant education 
activity.  

NH Statutes Description 
RSA 189:65 Definitions 

RSA 189:66 Data Inventory and Policies Publication 

RSA 189:67 Limits on Disclosure of Information 

RSA 189:68 Student Privacy 

RSA 189:68-a Student Online Personal Information 

RSA 31:103-b Cybersecurity 

RSA 359-C:19-21 Right to Privacy/Notice of Security Breach 

Federal Statutes Description 
15 U.S.C. §§ 6501-6506 Children's Online Privacy Protection Act (COPPA) 

20 U.S.C. § 1232h Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (PPRA) 

20 U.S.C. § 1400-1417 Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) 

20 U.S.C. § 7926 Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESSA) 

20 U.S.C. §1232g Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) 

Cross References 

Code Description 
DFGA Crowdfunding 

EHAA Computer Security, E-Mail and Internet Communications 

EHAC Electronic/Digital Records and Signatures 

EHB Data/Records Retention 

EHB-R(1) Data/Records Retention  - Local Records Retention Schedule 

GBEBD Employee Use of Social Networking Websites 

IHBH Extended Learning Opportunities 

IHBH-R(1) Extended Learning Opportunities  - Application 

IHBH-R(2) Extended Learning Opportunities  - Memorandum of 
Understanding for Extended Learning Opportunities 

JICJ Unauthorized Communication Devices 

JICL School District Internet Access for Students 

JICM Bring Your Own Device/Technology 

https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XV/189/189-65.htm#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XV/189/189-66.htm#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XV/189/189-67.htm#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XV/189/189-68.htm#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XV/189/189-68-a.htm#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/III/31/31-103-b.htm#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XXXI/359-C/359-C-mrg.htm#
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/15/chapter-91#
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/20/1232h#
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/20/chapter-33#
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/20/7926#
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/20/1232g#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=NEXb3isAxqBtB5iqt5pUDw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=2WlDHplusfEiDaM9e2dwhx34Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=AebHxwU0Nq4lSitiXik0bw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=xQq1Yjuvx4mf2cdcROPSZg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=s0LjTcowloslshtbsewcfRUOQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=BFjuJDlt1G0MfzplusC3Fxhhw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=AtGLbahwAMiUAqn0xkC4ZQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=HT1Z3q5PplusE8W0TROYRu1XA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=2HhexRytdgKqeiq665fqEA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=2HhexRytdgKqeiq665fqEA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=LAIEzrq5RJurOnFrKWDyEQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=uMmGMslshx9F9x6GQ2nbhsm3g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=48zshxZslshSod39Dhs3QOOWA==#


KD School District Social Media Websites 

KD-R(1) School District Social Media Websites - Regulations 

KDC Website Publishing 

KDC-R(1) Website Publishing - Student 
Publications/Productions/Website Publications 

 

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=EUgLtMiVQKz6b6Wt8xMUgw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=L8j6Wil28NRTJy6slshIP0rUA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=gVlx5OTu7BfuIhDD1WVCtQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=EbUQERBKWs5NUBopT3Dddg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=EbUQERBKWs5NUBopT3Dddg==#


9/21/23, 6:02 PM BoardDocs® LT

https://go.boarddocs.com/nh/mrsd/Board.nsf/Public# 1/4

Book J: Students

Section Series J

Title Change of Class or School Assignment Best Interest and Manifest Hardship

Code JCA

Status Active

Adopted August 4, 2012

Last Revised December 7, 2021

CHANGE OF CLASS OR SCHOOL ASSIGNMENT BEST INTEREST AND MANIFEST HARDSHIP
 

The Superintendent is charged with assigning students of the District to schools and classes consistent with board policies and
procedures. New Hampshire RSA 193:3 recognizes that there are limited instances when the class or school to which a student
might be assigned under a district's ordinary assignment policies and procedures, might not be in that student's best interests,
or other factors might exist under which create manifest educational hardship upon the student such that a change (referred to
in this policy as "reassignment") in the student's class or school assignment is warranted. The Board has adopted this policy
consistent with RSA193:3 and to provide procedures for parents/guardians to follow when they believe a reassignment is
appropriate.

A. Best Interest Re-Assignment - Determination by Superintendent.

Consistent with RSA 193:3, I, and subject to the provisions below, the Superintendent is authorized to reassign a student residing
in the District to another class within the school, [{if applicable} to another public school within the District], to another public
school or public academy in another district, or approved private school.

Authorization granted to the Superintendent to make reassignments under this policy applies only after the application is made by
the parent/guardian of the student or with the parent/guardian's consent, and upon a finding by the Superintendent that
reassignment is in the student's best interests, after taking into consideration the student's academic, physical, personal, or social
needs.

This policy, however, does not limit the Superintendent's discretion to make other in-District assignments consistent with
applicable Board policies and administrative rules.
 
1. Procedure:

a. In order to initiate consideration of a reassignment based upon the child's best interests, the parent/guardian shall submit
to the Superintendent a written request stating why and/or how the child's best interests warrant reassignment. In order to
facilitate a determination, such application may also include any additional information described in 4 below. The written
request should be mailed or delivered to the SAU office or emailed to the Superintendent at the email address provided on
the district's website.

b. Upon such request, the Superintendent shall schedule a meeting (the "reassignment meeting") with the parent/guardian,
to be held within 10 days of receiving the request.



9/21/23, 6:02 PM BoardDocs® LT

https://go.boarddocs.com/nh/mrsd/Board.nsf/Public# 2/4

c. Prior to or at the reassignment meeting, the parent/guardian shall make a specific request that the student be re-assigned
to another class/grade within the same school, [[{if applicable}to another public school, public academy, or approved
private school within the district]or to a public school, public academy, or approved private school in another district.

d. At the reassignment meeting, the parent/guardian may present documents, witnesses, or other relevant evidence
supporting the parent's belief that reassignment is in the best interest of the student.

e. The Superintendent may present such information as he or she deems appropriate.

f. In determining whether reassignment is in the student's best interest the Superintendent shall consider the student's
academic, physical, personal, or social needs.

2. Finding Reassignment Is or Is Not in Best Interest.

a. Within five school days of the reassignment meeting, the Superintendent shall deliver to the parent/guardian a written
determination as to whether or not reassignment is in the child's best interest. Delivery of the written determination should
be done in a manner to produce evidence of the delivery(e.g., courier, email, fax).

b. If the Superintendent finds it is in the best of the interest of the student to change the student's school assignment, the
Superintendent shall initiate:

i. A change of assignment within the student's current assigned school;
ii. The student's transfer to another public school, public academy, or approved private school within the district of
residence; or
iii. The student's transfer to a public school, public academy, or approved private school in another district.

 
c. If the Superintendent does not find that it is in the best interest of the student to change the students school or assignment, the
parent/guardian may request a hearing before the School Board to determine if the student is experiencing a manifest educational
hardship as provided in Section B of this policy.

3. Tuition Determination. If a student is to be reassigned to another school district or approved school as a result of a best
interest determination, the Superintendent shall work with the Superintendent or administrator of the receiving school
district/approved school to establish a tuition rate for such student. Pursuant to RSA 193:3, I(g), if the Superintendent has made a
finding that it is in the best interest of the student to be reassigned, then the School Board shall approve the tuition payment
consistent with the Board'sordinary manifest approval procedures.

If the student is reassigned to an approved private school as a result of a best interest determination, that school may charge
tuition to the parent/guardian or may enter into an agreement for payment of tuition with the school district in which the student
resides. The Superintendent shall consult with counsel regarding tuition obligations in such an instance.
 
The Superintendent shall assure that the reassignment approval is placed on the agenda for the next regularly scheduled Board
meeting.

4. Transportation: Transportation for a student reassigned to a school in another district under this Section A(best interest) shall
be the responsibility of the parent/guardian.

5. Tuition for Students Reassigned by Other Districts Pursuant to RSA 193:3, I. It is the general policy of the Board that the
tuition amount to be charged to another district for any student reassigned by that district to a school within this District under the
best interest standard of 193:3, I, shall be the lesser of the tuition charged for non-residential students under Board policy Feb
or as computed under the formula set out in RSA 193:4. The Superintendent, however, is authorized to reduce the tuition amount
below those thresholds or for other good cause shown (e.g., reciprocal assignments between the two districts).

6. Other In-District Assignments. Nothing in this policy is intended to limit authority otherwise extended to the Superintendent to
make assignments or reassignments according to the policies, regulations, and ordinary practices of the District.



9/21/23, 6:02 PM BoardDocs® LT

https://go.boarddocs.com/nh/mrsd/Board.nsf/Public# 3/4

B. Manifest Educational Hardship - Determination by School Board and Appeal to State Board.

If, after following the procedure outlined in Section A of this policy, the Superintendent did not find that it was in the best
interest of the student to reassign the student as requested by the student's parent/guardian, then the parent/guardian may request a
hearing before the School Board to determine if the student is experiencing a manifest educational hardship.

1."Manifest Educational Hardship" Defined. As provided in RSA 193:3, II (a), "manifest educational hardship" means that a
student has a documented hardship in his or her current educational placement; and that such hardship has a detrimental or
negative impact on the student's academic achievement or growth, physical safety, or social and emotional well-being. Such
hardship must be so severe, pervasive, or persistent that it interferes with or limits the ability of the student to receive an
education.

2. Procedure for Determination of Manifest Educational Hardship.

a. Within thirty (30) days after receipt of the Superintendent's written determination described that reassignment is not in a
student's best interest as described in paragraph A.2.C, above, the parent/guardian requesting a manifest educational
hardship hearing shall submit a written application to the Superintendent detailing the specific reasons why they believe
that the current assignment constitutes a manifest educational hardship.

b. The Superintendent shall duly notify the school board that the parent/guardian has requested a manifest educational
hardship hearing, upon which the school board shall schedule a hearing to be held no more than 15 days after the request
has been received by the Superintendent. The Board shall provide at least two full days' notice of the hearing. The Board
will conduct the hearing in a non-public session, unless the parent/guardian requests the hearing be held in public session,
subject to RSA 91-A:3, II(c).

c. Prior to or at such hearing, the parent/guardian shall provide to the Superintendent a specific request in writing that the
student attend another public school, public academy, or approved private school in the District, or] attend a public school,
public academy, or approved private school in another school district. The Superintendent shall provide such request to the
School Board at the hearing. Although not required, the parent/guardian may include this request as part of the original
hearing request.

d. At such hearing, the parent/guardian may present documents, witnesses, or other relevant evidence supporting their
belief that the student is experiencing a manifest educational hardship. the superintendent may present such information as
he or she may deem appropriate to assist the SchoolBoard in reaching its decision. The parties (or their appointed
designee) shall have the right to examine all evidence and witnesses. The formal rules of evidence shall not apply. The
Superintendent will assure the means for the Board to establish an adequate record of the hearing.

e. The parent/guardian shall have the burden of establishing the presence of a manifest educational hardship by clear and
convincing evidence, which means that the evidence is highly and substantially more likely to be true than untrue, and the
Board must be convinced that the contention is highly probable.

f. The Board will render its decision in writing within seven (7) days after the hearing and will forward its written decision
to the parent/guardian via means producing proof of delivery (e.g., courier, email, etc.). The decision will conform to the
requirements of NH Dept. of Education Rule Ed 320(c)-(e).

3. Finding of Manifest Educational Hardship. If the School Board finds that the student has a manifest educational hardship,
the School Board shall grant the parent's or guardian's request to reassign the student [ {if applicable} another public school,
public academy, or approved private school in the District, or] to a public school, public academy, or approved private school in
another district.

4. Finding that Manifest Educational Hardship Was Not Established - Appeal to the New Hampshire State board of
Education. If the School Board finds that the parent/guardian has not met their burden of proof, the parent/guardian may appeal
the local Board decision to the New Hampshire State Board of Education("SBOE"), within thirty (30) days of receipt of the



9/21/23, 6:02 PM BoardDocs® LT

https://go.boarddocs.com/nh/mrsd/Board.nsf/Public# 4/4

Board's written decision in accordance with NH Dept. of. Rule Ed 204.01(g). If a parent/guardian believes that denial of a re-
assignment under this policy upon the child's disability, the parent/guardian may appeal to the SBOE or file a complaint with the
N.H. HumanRights Commission under RSA 354-A:28.

5. Tuition for Students Reassigned Upon Finding of Manifest Educational Hardship. If, after a finding of a manifest
educational hardship - by either the School Board or the State Board - a student of the District is assigned to attend school in
another district, or a student from another district is assigned to a school in this district, the district in which the student resides
shall pay tuition to the district to which the child is reassigned. Such tuition shall be computed according to RSA 193:4. The
school board of the district in which the student resides shall approve the tuition payment consistent with its ordinary manifest
approval process.

6. Transportation: Transportation for a student reassigned to schools in another district under this section B(manifest educational
hardship) shall be the responsibility of the District unless otherwise ordered by the SBOE.
 

C. Admission Requirements. Students reassigned under this Policy shall meet the admission requirements of the school to which
the student is to be reassigned.

D. Statutory Reassignment Limit. The total reassignments or transfer made under this policy in any one school year will not
exceed one (1) percent of the average daily membership in residence of a school district, or five (5) percent of the average daily
membership in residence of any single school, whichever is greater, unless the School Board votes to exceed this limit.

E. Count of Reassigned Pupils, Tuition Payment and Rate, and Transportation. Pupils reassigned under this policy will be
counted in the average daily membership in residence of a given pupil's resident school district. Said pupil's resident district will
forward any tuition payment due to the District to which the pupil was assigned.

F. Notice to the Department of Education. The Superintendent of the pupil's resident SAU will notify the Department of
Education within thirty (30) days of any reassignment made under this policy.

G. Special Education Placements. A placement made relative to a student's special education needs and services shall not be
deemed a change of school assignment for purposes of this section.

Revision Dates: 12/7/2021, 3/2/2021, 8/13/2020

Legal References:

Ed RSA 193:3, III, Change of School Assignment

RSA 193:14-a, Change of School Assignment; Duties of State Board of Education

N.H. Dept. of Education Administrative Rule Ed. 320 [Pending revision]



Board Policy Manual 
NHSBA Policy Management Console 

Policy JCA: Change of Class of School or Assignment Best Interests and 
Manifest Hardship 

Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 07/01/1998 | Last Revised Date: 09/18/2023 | Last Reviewed Date: 
09/18/2023 

 

 
Category:  Priority/Required by Law  
 
~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~  
ADOPTION/REVISION NOTES –  
Text between the highlighted lines “~ ~ ~ ~”, and highlights in this sample should be removed prior to 
adoption..  

a. Adoption note - Important note regarding 2020 amendments to JCA:  The 2020 revision 
to JCA also merged the subject matter of previous sample JEC (manifest educational 
hardship) with JCA to reflect the new statutory relationship between those two 
reassignment provisions. NHSBA withdrew sample JEC with the 2020 revision to 
JCA.  Most of this policy specifically tracks language in the amended version of RSA 
193:3. If a district wishes to modify miscellaneous provisions, it should review the statute 
carefully, and or consult with private counsel and/or NHSBA Policy Services. 

b. General – As with all sample policies, NHSBA recommends that each district carefully 
review this sample prior to adoption/revision to assure suitability with the district’s own 
specific circumstances, internal coding system, current policies, and organizational 
structures.   

c. General – Highlighted language or blank, underscored spaces indicate areas which 
Boards should review, change or complete to reflect local personnel titles, internal/ 
external policy references, duty assignments etc. 

d. General – {**} indicates a reference to another NHSBA sample policy.  A district should 
check its own current policies and codes to assure internal consistency. 

e. General – Withdrawn & earlier versions of revised policies should be maintained 
separately as part of the permanent records of the District.  

NHSBA history:  Revised – Sept. 2021, Nov. 2020, Sept. 2018, Sept. 2016 (JCA only), Sept. 2015 
(JCA only); Sept. 2011, Sept. 2008, July 1998. 
 
NHSBA revision notes, Sept. 2023,  revisions include clarification of the board's authority to 
approve Superintendent's assignment of students to approved private schools (see 2023 passage of 
SB77), as well as other revisions: (1) clarifying standards for consideration of requests for 
assignment to private schools, and annual review of both best interest and manifest hardship 
assignments, (2) adding language to section and footnote regarding transportation obligations in 
manifest hardship cases, and (3) minor format/grammar changes;  Sept. 2021, revisions reflect 
2021 amendments to RSA 193:3, I-II, & VI (HB388) which  (i) expanded allowable best interest and 
manifest hardship re-assignments to include “approved” private schools (irrespective of whether 
sectarian), and (ii) added language to 193:3, IV clarifying that if denial of a manifest hardship 
assignment is based upon a child’s disability, a complaint may be filed with the N.H. Human Rights 
Commission.  November 2020, the old version of policy JCA concerned only reassignments based 
on the best interest standard, while manifest educational hardship reassignments were addressed 
in sample JEC.  Each of the former policies reflected different processes described in RSA 193:3, I-
III.  2020 legislative changes to 193:3, I-III-a (see 2020 Laws 38:22, chaptered version of 2020 
HB1558, including amended HB1328) made best interest and manifest hardship processes 



sequential, rather than separate.  Accordingly, NHSBA has merged the two processes into one 
policy.  It is possible/likely that at some point in the next couple of years, the NH DOE will amend 
Rule Ed 320 to reflect the 2020 legislative changes, and such rule revisions may require additional 
policy revisions.  
 
~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 
 
The Superintendent is charged with assigning students of the District to schools and classes 
consistent with Board policies and procedures.  New Hampshire RSA 193:3 recognizes that there 
are limited instances when the class or school to which a student might be assigned under a 
district’s ordinary assignment policies and procedures, might not be in that student’s best interests, 
or other factors might exist under which create a manifest educational hardship upon the student 
such that a change (referred to in this policy as “reassignment”) in the student’s class or school 
assignment is warranted.  The Board has adopted this policy consistent with RSA 193:3 and to 
provide procedures for parents/guardians to follow when they believe a reassignment is 
appropriate. 
 
A. Best Interest Re-Assignment – Determination by Superintendent. 
 
Consistent with RSA 193:3, I, and subject to the provisions below, the Superintendent is authorized 
to reassign a student residing in the District to a another class within the school, to another public 
school within the District, to another public school, public academy, or approved private school in 
another district. 
 
Authorization granted to the Superintendent to make reassignments under this policy applies only 
after application is made by the parent/guardian of the student or with the parent/guardian’s 
consent, and upon a finding by the Superintendent that reassignment is in the student’s best 
interests, after taking into consideration the student’s academic, physical, personal, or social needs.  
This policy, however, does not limit the Superintendent’s discretion to make other in-District 
assignments consistent with applicable Board policies and administrative rules.  

1. Procedure: 
   

a. In order to initiate consideration of a reassignment based upon the child’s best 
interests, the parent/guardian shall submit to the Superintendent a written request 
stating why and/or how the child’s best interests warrant reassignment.  In order to 
facilitate a determination, such application may also include any additional 
information described in 4 below.  The written request should be mailed or delivered 
to the SAU office or emailed to the Superintendent at the email address provided on 
the District’s website. 
  

b. Upon such request, the Superintendent shall schedule a meeting (the “reassignment 
meeting”) with the parent/guardian, to be held within 10 days of receiving the 
request. 
  

c. Prior to or at the reassignment meeting, the parent/guardian shall make a specific 
request that the student be re-assigned to another class/grade within the same 
school, to another public school or approved private school within the district or to a 
public school, public academy, or approved private school in another district. 
  

d. At the reassignment meeting, the parent/guardian may present documents, 
witnesses, or other relevant evidence supporting the parent/guardian's belief that 



reassignment is in the best interest of the student.  
  

e. The Superintendent may present such information as he or she deems appropriate. 
  

f. In determining whether reassignment is in the student’s best interest the 
Superintendent shall consider the student's academic, physical, personal, or social 
needs. 
  

2. Finding Reassignment Is or Is Not in Best Interest. 
   

a. Within five school days of the reassignment meeting, the Superintendent shall 
deliver to the parent/guardian a written determination as to whether or not 
reassignment is in the child’s best interest.  Delivery of the written determination 
should be done in a manner to produce evidence of the delivery (e.g., courier, email, 
fax). 
  

b. If the Superintendent finds it is in the best of the interest of the student to change 
the student's school or assignment, the Superintendent shall initiate:  

i. A change of assignment within the student's current assigned school;  
  

ii. The student's transfer to another public school or public academy within the 
district of residence; or  
  

iii. The student's transfer to a public school, public academy, or approved 
private school in another district. 
  

c. If the Superintendent does not find that it is in the best interest of the student to 
change the student's school or assignment, the parent/guardian may request a 
hearing before the School Board to determine if the student is experiencing a 
manifest educational hardship as provided in Section B of this policy. 
  

3. Tuition Determination.   
   

a. Assignment to Another School District or Public Academy.  If a student is to be 
reassigned to a public school in another school district or approved public academy 
as a result of a best interest determination, the Superintendent shall work with the 
Superintendent or administrator of the receiving school district/approved school to 
establish a tuition rate for such student. Pursuant to RSA 193:3, I(g), if the 
Superintendent has made a finding that it is in the best interest of the student to be 
reassigned, then the School Board shall approve the tuition payment consistent with 
the Board’s ordinary manifest approval procedures. 
  

b. Assignment to an Approved Private School.  If the student is reassigned to an approved 
private school as a result of a best interest determination, that school may charge 
tuition to the parent/guardian or may enter into an agreement for payment of 
tuition with the school district in which the student resides.  [1 Delete Endote].  The 
Superintendent shall consult with counsel regarding tuition obligations in such an 
instance. Any such Agreement shall be subject to approval by the school board on 
behalf of the School District and shall be at the sole Discretion of the School Board 
with due consideration given to the fiscal impact of such approval of the District, 
and shall not be granted if, in the opinion of the School Board, there are other viable 
public school options for reassignment. 



The Superintendent shall assure that the reassignment approval is placed on the agenda for 
the next regularly scheduled Board meeting.  

4. Transportation: Transportation for a student reassigned to a school in another district under 
this Section A (best interest) shall be the responsibility of the parent/guardian.  
  

5. Tuition for Students Reassigned by Other Districts Pursuant to RSA 193:3, I. It is the 
general policy of the Board that the tuition amount to be charged to another district for any 
student reassigned by that district to a school within this District under the best interest 
standard of 193:3, I, shall be the lesser of the tuition charged for non-residential students 
under Board policy {**}JFAB or as computed under the formula set out in RSA 193:  The 
Superintendent, however, is authorized to reduce the tuition amount below those 
thresholds or for other good cause shown (e.g., reciprocal assignments between the two 
districts).[2 Delete endnote] 
  

6. Other In-District Assignments.  Nothing in this policy is intended to limit authority 
otherwise extended to the Superintendent to make assignments or reassignments according 
to the policies, regulations, and ordinary practices of the District. 
  

7. Review/Appeal of Decision.  The decision of the Superintendent shall be final and any 
appeal shall be limited to the process set forth in Section B, below. 
  

8. Annual Review of Decision.  A reassignment on the basis of best interest of the student 
shall be limited to no longer than the end of the ensuing school year, and shall be subject to 
review by the Superintendent prior to any subsequent school year to determine that the 
reassignment remains in the best interest of the student, with the understanding that the 
Superintendent may, at his/her discretion waive the review when he/she deems such to be 
appropriate. 

B. Manifest Educational Hardship – Determination by School Board and Appeal to State Board. 
 
If, after following the procedure outlined in Section A of this policy, the Superintendent did not find 
that it was in the best interest of the student to reassign the student as requested by the student’s 
parent/guardian, then the parent/guardian may request a hearing before the School Board to 
determine if the student is experiencing a manifest educational hardship.  

1. “Manifest Educational Hardship” Defined.  As provided in RSA 193:3, II (a), "manifest 
educational hardship" means that a student has a documented hardship in his or her current 
educational placement; and that such hardship has a detrimental or negative impact on the 
student's academic achievement or growth, physical safety, or social and emotional well-
being. Such hardship must be so severe, pervasive, or persistent that it interferes with or 
limits the ability of the student to receive an education. 
  

2. Procedure for Determination of Manifest Educational Hardship.  
a. Within thirty (30) days after receipt of the Superintendent’s written determination 

describing that reassignment is not in the student’s best interest as described in 
paragraph A.2.a & c, the parent/guardian requesting a manifest educational hardship 
hearing shall submit a written application to the Superintendent detailing the 
specific reasons why they believe that the current assignment constitutes a manifest 
educational hardship.   
  

b. The Superintendent shall duly notify the school board that the parent/guardian has 
requested a manifest educational hardship hearing, upon which the school board 
shall schedule a hearing to be held no more than 15 days [3 Delete endnote]  after the 
request has been received by the Superintendent.  The Board shall provide at least 



two full days' notice of the hearing.  The Board will conduct the hearing in non-
public session, unless the parent/guardian requests the hearing be held in public 
session, subject to RSA 91-A:3, II(c). 
  

c. Prior to or at such hearing, the parent/guardian shall provide to the Superintendent 
a specific request in writing that the student attend another public school or 
approved private school in the District, or attend a public school, public academy, or 
approved private school in another school district. The Superintendent shall provide 
such request to the School Board at the hearing.  Although not required, the 
parent/guardian may include this request as part of the original hearing request.   
  

d. At such hearing, the parent/guardian may present documents, witnesses, or other 
relevant evidence supporting their belief that the student is experiencing a manifest 
educational hardship. The Superintendent may present such information as he or 
she may deem appropriate to assist the School Board in reaching its decision. The 
parties (or their appointed designee) shall have the right to examine all evidence and 
witnesses. The formal rules of evidence shall not apply.  The Superintendent will 
assure the means for the Board to establish an adequate record of the hearing. 
  

e. The parent/guardian shall have the burden of establishing the presence of a 
manifest educational hardship by clear and convincing evidence, which means that 
the evidence is highly and substantially more likely to be true than untrue, and the 
Board must be convinced that the contention is highly probable.4 
  

f. The Board will render its decision in writing within seven days after the hearing and 
will forward its written decision to the parent/guardian via means producing proof 
of delivery (e.g., courier, email, etc.).  The decision will conform to the requirements 
of NH Dept. of Education Rule Ed 320(c)-(e). 
  

3. Finding of Manifest Educational Hardship.  If the School Board finds that the student has a 
manifest educational hardship, the School Board shall grant the parent's or guardian's 
request to reassign the student another public school or approved private school in the 
District, or to a public school, public academy, or approved private school in another district.  
  

4. Finding that Manifest Educational Hardship Was Not Established – Appeal to the New 
Hampshire State Board of Education.  If the School Board finds that the parent/guardian 
has not met their burden of proof, the parent/guardian may appeal the local Board decision 
to the New Hampshire State Board of Education (“SBOE”), within thirty (30) days of receipt 
of the Board’s written decision in accordance with NH Dept. of Ed. Rule Ed 2001(g).  If a 
parent/guardian believes that denial of a re-assignment under this policy is based upon the 
child’s disability, the parent/guardian may appeal to the SBOE or file a complaint with the 
N.H. Human Rights Commission under RSA 354-A:28.   
  

5. Tuition for Students Reassigned Upon Finding of Manifest Educational Hardship. If, after a 
finding of a manifest educational hardship - by either the School Board or the State Board - 
a student of the District is assigned to attend a public school or a public academy in another 
district, or a student from another district is assigned to a school in this District, the district 
in which the student resides shall pay tuition to the district to which the child is reassigned. 
 
Such tuition shall be computed according to RSA 193:4. The school board of the district in 
which the student resides shall approve the tuition payment consistent with its ordinary 
manifest approval process. 
  

6. Transportation: Transportation for a student reassigned to a school in another district under 
this Section B (manifest educational hardship) shall not {see and delete endnote  5} be the 



responsibility of the District unless otherwise ordered by the SBOE. 
  

7. Annual Review of Manifest Hardship Determination.  A reassignment on the basis of 
manifest educational hardship shall be limited to no longer than the end of the ensuing 
school year and shall be subject to review by the School Board prior to any subsequent 
school year to determine that the manifest educational hardship still exists, with the 
understanding that the Board may, at its discretion, waive the review when it deems such to 
be appropriate. [6 Delete endnote] 

C. Admission Requirements.  Students reassigned under this Policy shall meet the admission 
requirements of the school to which the student is to be reassigned. Statutory  
 
D. Reassignment Limit. The total reassignments or transfer made under this policy in any one 
school year will not exceed one (1) percent of the average daily membership in residence of a 
school district, or five (5) percent of the average daily membership in residence of any single school, 
whichever is greater, unless the School Board votes to exceed this limit. 
 
E. Count of Reassigned Pupils, Tuition Payment and Rate, and Transportation.  Pupils reassigned 
under this policy will be counted in the average daily membership in residence ("ADMR") of a given 
pupil's resident school district.  Said pupil's resident district will forward any tuition payment due to 
the District to which the pupil was assigned. 
 
F. Notice to the Department of Education.  The Superintendent of the pupil's resident SAU will 
notify the Department of Education within thirty (30) days of any reassignment made under this 
policy. 
 
G. Special Education Placements.  A placement made relative to a student's special education 
needs and services shall not be deemed a change of school assignment for purposes of this 
section.  
   

 
1 [Delete endnote]  The first sentence of this paragraph is taken directly from the 2021 amendment to RSA 
193:13, I(h).  It is unclear from the statutory language how this relates to the District’s tuition 
negotiation/payment language relative to schools in other public districts.  
  
2 [Delete endnote] RSA 193:3, I(g) includes the language: “Some or all of the tuition may be waived by the 
Superintendent for good cause shown or pursuant to school board policy of the receiving district.”  The 
language suggests that the two standards (good cause shown or policy) are not exclusive.  
  
3 [Delete endnote]  The 2020 amendments to RSA 193:3, II require that the hearing be held within 15 days of 
the request by the parent.  This supersedes the 30 day requirement of NH DOE Ed. 320.01 (e). 
  
4 The clear and convincing standard differs from the “preponderance of the evidence” standard, which 
only requires that evidence indicates that the contention is more likely than not. 
 
5 [Delete endnote]  There is some ambiguity as to whether the law requires districts to provide transportation 
for K-8 students who are assigned to schools outside of the district after a manifest hardship 
determination.  RSA 189:6 requires the district to provide transportation for K-8 students living more 
than two miles from the school to which a student is assigned.  While 193:3,I (g) has a specific exception 
built in for best interest assignments (see A.4, above), no such exception exists for manifest hardship 
assignments.  Accordingly, before including the word "not" here, the School Board should consult with 



its private counsel. 
 
6 [Delete endnote]  Similar as to what is allowed of the Superintendent relative to a best interests 
determination, the School Board, may – but is not required to - review a student’s manifest educational 
hardship reassignment to determine whether the original conditions which have caused the need for the 
manifest educational hardship reassignment no longer exist.  

 
 
 
   

 

 
District Policy History:  

First reading:                                                   
Second reading/adopted:                                 
 
District revision history: 

   

 

  

  

  

  

 

  

DISCLAIMER: This sample policy manual is copyrighted to the New Hampshire School Boards Association and is intended for the sole and 
exclusive use of NHSBA Policy Service Subscribers. No portion of this manual may be reproduced, copied, transmitted, distributed, in any form, 
except as needed for the development of policy by a subscribing district. The materials contained in the manual are provided for general 
information only and as a resource to assist subscribing districts with policy development. School districts and boards of education should consult 
with legal counsel and revise all sample policies and regulations to address local facts and circumstances prior to adoption. NHSBA continually 
makes revisions based on school districts' needs and local, state and federal laws, regulations and court decisions, and other relevant education 
activity.  

NH Statutes Description 
RSA 193:14-a Change of School Assignment; Duties of State Board of 

Education 

RSA 193:3, III Change of School Assignment 

NH Dept of Ed Regulation Description 
N.H. Dept. of Education Admin. Rule Ed. 
320 

N.H. Dept. of Education Administrative Rule Ed. 320 
[Pending revision] 

Cross References 

Code Description 
JEBA Early Entrance into Kindergarten 

https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XV/193/193-14-a.htm#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XV/193/193-14-a.htm#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XV/193/193-3.htm#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rules/state_agencies/ed300.html#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rules/state_agencies/ed300.html#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=Wzk5fIslsh5fK0eIBGIRYckmg==#


JFAA Admission of Resident Students 

JFAB Admission of Tuition and Non-Resident Students 

JG Assignment of Students to Classes and Grade Levels 

 

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=slshXu5NEzWuJnp3945Taxplusqw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=BqcqFjVfZ6rNcEplusvNehdmA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=fMlM3EiDw0NvzHvSpE7lNQ==#


9/21/23, 6:06 PM BoardDocs® LT

https://go.boarddocs.com/nh/mrsd/Board.nsf/Public# 1/3

Book J: Students

Section Series J

Title Use of Restraints and Seclusion

Code JKAA

Status Active

Adopted November 16, 2010

Last Revised July 9, 2019

USE OF RESTRAINTS AND SECLUSION
 
Definitions:
1. (a) "Restraint" means bodily physical restriction, mechanical devices, or any device that immobilizes a person or restricts the
freedom of movement of the torso, head, arms, or legs. It includes mechanical restraint, physical restraint, and medication
restraint used to control behavior in an emergency or any involuntary medication. It is limited to actions taken by persons who are
school or facility staff members, contractors, or otherwise under the control or direction of a school or facility.
(b) "Restraint" shall not include:

(1) Brief touching or holding to calm, comfort, encourage, or guide a child, so long as limitation of freedom of movement
of the child does not occur.

(2) The temporary holding of the hand, wrist, arm, shoulder, or back for the purpose of inducing a child to stand, if
necessary, and then walk to a safe location, so long as the child is in an upright position and moving toward a safe location.

(3) Physical devices, such as orthopedically prescribed appliances, surgical dressings and bandages, and supportive body
bands, or other physical holding when necessary for routine physical examinations and tests or for orthopedic, surgical,
and other similar medical treatment purposes, or when used to provide support for the achievement of functional body
position or proper balance or to protect a person from falling out of bed, or to permit a child to participate in activities
without the risk of physical harm.

(4) The use of seat belts, safety belts, or similar passenger restraints during the transportation of a child in a motor vehicle.

(5) The use of force by a person to defend himself or herself or a third person from what the actor reasonably believes to
be the imminent use of unlawful force by a child, when the actor uses a degree of such force which he or she reasonably
believes to be necessary for such purpose and the actor does not immobilize a child or restrict the freedom of movement of
the torso, head, arms, or legs of any child.

2. "Medication restraint" occurs when a child is given medication involuntarily for the purpose of immediate control of the
child's behavior.
3. "Mechanical restraint" occurs when a physical device or devices are used to restrict the movement of a child or the
movement or normal function of a portion of his or her body.
4. "Physical restraint" occurs when a manual method is used to restrict a child's freedom of movement or normal access to his



9/21/23, 6:06 PM BoardDocs® LT

https://go.boarddocs.com/nh/mrsd/Board.nsf/Public# 2/3

or her body.
5. "Seclusion" means the involuntary placement of a child alone in a place where no other person is present and from which the
particular child is unable to exit, either due to physical manipulation by a person, a lock, or other mechanical device or barrier.
The term shall not include the voluntary separation of a child from a stressful environment for the purpose of allowing the child
to regain self-control, when such separation is to an area which a child is able to leave. Seclusion does not include circumstances
in which there is no physical barrier between the child and any other person or the child is physically able to leave the place. A
circumstance may be considered seclusion even if a window or other device for visual observation is present, if the other elements
of this definition are satisfied.
 
Procedures for Managing The Behavior of Students:
The Superintendent is authorized to establish procedures for managing the behavior. Such procedures shall be consistent with this
policy and all applicable laws. The Superintendent is further authorized to establish any other procedures necessary to implement
this policy and/or any other legal requirements.

Circumstances in Which Restraint May Be Used:
Restraint will only be used to ensure the immediate physical safety of any person when there is a substantial and imminent risk of
serious bodily harm to the student or others.
Restraint will only be used by trained school staff.
Restraint will not be as punishment for the behavior of a student.
Restraint will not be imposed for longer than is necessary to protect the student or others from the substantial and imminent risk
of serious bodily harm.
No period of restraint of a student may exceed 15 minutes without the approval of a supervisory employee designated by the
director to provide such approval. No period of restraint of a student may exceed 30 minutes unless an assessment of the mental,
emotional, and physical well-being of the student is conducted by a trained and authorized employee.

Circumstances in Which Seclusion May Be Used:
The School Board recognizes the statutorily imposed conditions of seclusions and hereby adopts those conditions, as defined by
RSA 126-U:5-b.
Seclusion may only be used when a student's behavior poses a substantial and imminent risk of physical harm to the student or
others.
Seclusion will be used only by trained school staff.
Seclusion will not be used as a form of punishment for the behavior of a student.

Prohibition of Dangerous Restraint Techniques:
The School Board recognizes and hereby prohibits the use of "dangerous restraint techniques" as defined in RSA 126-U:4.

Reporting Requirements and Parental Notification:
In the event restraint or seclusion is used on a student, the building principal will, within 24 hours, verbally notify the student's
parents/guardian of the occurrence.
 
The building principal will, within 5 business days after the occurrence, submit a written notification/report to the
Superintendent. The notification shall contain all the requirements and information as mandated by RSA
126-U:7, II. The Superintendent may develop a reporting form or other documents necessary to satisfy these reporting
requirements.

Unless prohibited by court order, the Superintendent will, within 2 business days of receipt of the notification required in the
above paragraph, send by first-class mail to the child's parent or guardian the information contained in the notification/report.
Each notification/report prepared under this section shall be retained by the school for review in accordance with state board of
education rules and the department of health and human services rules. 
 
If a school employee has intentional physical contact with a student in response to a student's aggressive misconduct or disruptive
behavior, the building principal will make reasonable efforts to inform the student's parent or guardian as soon as possible, but no
later than the end of the school-day. The building principal will also prepare a written report of the incident within five (5)
business days of the incident. The report will include information required under RSA 126-U:7, V.



9/21/23, 6:06 PM BoardDocs® LT

https://go.boarddocs.com/nh/mrsd/Board.nsf/Public# 3/3

Transportation: (RSA 126-U:12)
The school district will not use mechanical restraints during the transportation of children unless case-specific circumstances
dictate that such methods are necessary.
Whenever a student is transported to a location outside the school, the Superintendent or designee will ensure that all reasonable
and appropriate measures consistent with public safety are made to transport or escort the student in a manner which:

1. Prevents physical and psychological trauma;
2. Respects the privacy of the child; and
3. Represents the least restrictive means necessary for the safety of the child.

Whenever a student is transported using mechanical restraints, the Superintendent or designee will document in writing the
reasons for the use of the mechanical restraints.
 

Legal References:
RSA 126-U, Limiting the Use of Child Restraint Practices
Revision Dates: 7/9/2019, 12/4/2014



Board Policy Manual 
NHSBA Policy Management Console 

Policy JKAA: Use of Restraints and Seclusion Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 09/01/2010 | Last Revised Date: 09/18/2023 | Last Reviewed Date: 
09/18/2023 

 

 
Category: Priority/Required by Law 
 
~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~  
ADOPTION/REVISION NOTES –  
Text between the highlighted lines “~ ~ ~ ~”, and highlights in this sample should be removed prior to 
adoption.  

a. Adoption note:  Most of this sample reflects specific requirements of RSA 126-U or Ed Chapter 
1200. The sample includes many procedures which, while not specifically described in the statute 
or regulations, are implicitly necessary. NHSBA has endeavored to indicate those areas where the 
rules are not specific, or otherwise where districts may have options. Before modifying parts of 
the policy especially those which are not indicated with footnotes etc., a board/policy committee 
should consult with the district’s private counsel or contact NHSBA’s Director of Policy Services. 

b. General – As with all sample policies, NHSBA recommends that each district carefully review this 
sample prior to adoption/revision to assure suitability with the district’s own specific 
circumstances, internal coding system, current policies, and organizational structures.     

c. General - Highlighted language or blank, underscored spaces indicate areas which Boards should 
review, change or complete to reflect local personnel titles, internal/ external policy references, 
duty assignments etc. 

d. General - {**} indicates a reference to another NHSBA sample policy.    A district should check its 
own current policies and codes to assure internal consistency. 

e. General - Withdrawn & earlier versions of revised policies should be maintained separately as 
part of the permanent records of the District. 
______________________________ 
 
NHSBA history:  Revised: Sept. Sept. 2014, May 2012; New policy: Sept. 2010 
 
NHSBA Revision Notes: September 2023, Substantial revisions and reformatting 
throughout.  The impetus for revision was the 2023 passage of SB179 and HB491, both 
amending provisions of RSA 126-U. SB179 refined the definition of seclusion, and added a 
requirement for use of “co-regulators”.  SB179 further requires the Dept. of Education and 
Dept. of Health and Human Services to develop a form for reporting the information 
required in RSA 126-U:7, II.  As of preliminary release of this revision (9/8/2023), the form had 
not been released.  HB491 added a specific definition and prohibition of the use of “prone 
restraint” (previously would have been prohibited as a form of dangerous restraint 
technique).  Sections also added to sample policy relative to mandated reporting for 
violations of RSA 126-U, and review of IEPs, 504 plans, behavior intervention plans, or 
other such invidualized plans following use of restraint or seclusion.  September 2014:    
Numerous changes to this policy were necessitated by legislative changes to RSA 126-U.    

~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 
   

A. Policy Statement.  This policy is designed to help ensure the safety and dignity of all 
students by limiting and regulating the use of restraint and seclusion only as crisis or 
emergency responses. Restraint and seclusion of students is prohibited in the District 
except as described below. 



B. Definitions. For the purposes of this policy, 

1. "Restraint" means bodily physical restriction, mechanical devices, or any device that 
immobilizes a person or restricts the freedom of movement of the torso, head, arms, 
or legs. It includes mechanical restraint, physical restraint, and medication restraint 
used to control behavior in an emergency or any involuntary medication. It is limited 
to actions taken by persons who are school or facility staff members, contractors, or 
otherwise under the control or direction of a school or facility.  

a. "Medication restraint" occurs when a child is given medication 
involuntarily for the purpose of immediate control of the child's 
behavior. 

b. "Mechanical restraint" occurs when a physical device or devices are 
used to restrict the movement of a child or the movement or normal 
function of a portion of his or her body. 

c. "Physical restraint" occurs when a manual method is used to restrict a 
child's freedom of movement or normal access to his or her body. 

d. “Prone restraint” is a prohibited physical restraint technique which 
occurs when a child is intentionally placed face-down on the floor or 
another surface, and the child's physical movement is limited to keep 
the child in a prone position. For the purpose of this definition, physical 
restraint that involves the temporary controlling of an individual in a 
prone position while transitioning to an alternative, safer form of 
restraint is not considered to be a prohibited form of physical restraint. 

e. Exceptions to definition of restraint.  The term "restraint" DOES NOT, 
however, include: 

i. Brief touching or holding to calm, comfort, encourage, or guide a child, so 
long as limitation of freedom of movement of the child does not occur. 

ii. The temporary holding of the hand, wrist, arm, shoulder, or back for the 
purpose of inducing a child to stand, if necessary, and then walk to a safe 
location, so long as the child is in an upright position and moving toward 
a safe location. 

iii. Physical devices, such as orthopedically prescribed appliances, surgical 
dressings and bandages, and supportive body bands, or other physical 
holding when necessary for routine physical examinations and tests or 
for orthopedic, surgical, and other similar medical treatment purposes, or 
when used to provide support for the achievement of functional body 
position or proper balance or to protect a person from falling out of bed, 
or to permit a child to participate in activities without the risk of physical 
harm. 

iv. The use of seat belts, safety belts, or similar passenger restraints during 
the transportation of a child in a motor vehicle. 

v. The use of force by a person to defend himself or herself or a third 
person from what the actor reasonably believes to be the imminent use 
of unlawful force by a child, when the actor uses a degree of such force 
which he or she reasonably believes to be necessary for such purpose 



and the actor does not immobilize a child or restrict the freedom of 
movement of the torso, head, arms, or legs of any child. 

2. “Dangerous Restraint Technique” are prohibited forms of restraint and/or behavior 
techniques that include: 
   

a. Prone restraint, or any other physical restraint or containment technique that: 
   

i. Obstructs a child's respiratory airway or impairs the child's breathing 
or respiratory capacity or restricts the movement required for normal 
breathing; 

ii. Places pressure or weight on, or causes the compression of, the chest, 
lungs, sternum, diaphragm, back, or abdomen of a child; 

iii. Obstructs the circulation of blood; 

iv. Involves pushing on or into the child's mouth, nose, eyes, or any part 
of the face or involves covering the face or body with anything, 
including soft objects such as pillows, blankets, or washcloths; or 

v. Endangers a child's life or significantly exacerbates a child's medical 
condition. 

b. The intentional infliction of pain, including the use of pain inducement to 
obtain compliance. 

c. The intentional release of noxious, toxic, caustic, or otherwise unpleasant 
substances near a child for the purpose of controlling or modifying the 
behavior of or punishing the child. 

d. Any technique that unnecessarily subjects the child to ridicule, humiliation, or 
emotional trauma. 

e. Other forms of physical and medical restraint shall be administered in such a 
way so as to prevent or minimize physical harm. During the administration of 
restraint, the physical status of the child, including skin temperature, color, 
and respiration, shall be continuously monitored. The child shall be released 
from restraint immediately if they demonstrate signs of one or more of the 
following: difficulty breathing; choking; vomiting; bleeding; fainting; 
unconsciousness; discoloration; swelling at points of restraint; cold 
extremities, or similar manifestations. 

3. "Seclusion" means: the involuntary confinement of a child alone in any room or area 
from which the child is unable to exit, either due to physical manipulation by a person, 
a lock, or other mechanical device or barrier, or from which the child reasonably 
believes they are not free to leave; or, the involuntary confinement of a child to a 
room or area, separate from their peers, with one or more adults who are using their 
physical presence to prevent egress.  
 
The term “seclusion” DOES NOT, however, include: the voluntary separation of a 
child from a stressful environment for the purpose of allowing the child to regain self-
control, when such separation is to an area which a child is able to leave; 
circumstances in which there is no physical barrier, and the child is physically able to 
leave; or involuntary confinement of a child to a room or area with an adult who is 



actively engaging in a therapeutic intervention. A circumstance may be considered 
seclusion even if a window or other device for visual observation is present, if the 
other elements of this definition are satisfied. 
  

C. Training Required.  Under RSA 126-U:5, II, the restraint may only be used/implemented by 
trained school staff, while 126-U:5-a, II applies the same limitation to the use of seclusion. 
The Superintendent shall ensure that: 
   

1. each school building has staff who have been appropriately trained in the proper and 
safe implementation of seclusion or restraint techniques;  

2. each school building has staff who have been appropriately trained and are 
authorized to assess the mental, emotional, and physical well-being of a student 
relative to a period of restraint that exceeds 30 minutes in conditions described in 
____, below; and 

3. [[i] Delete endnote] all employees, designated volunteers and other persons who are 
required to have criminal history background checks under Board policy GBCD 
receive general training in the requirements and prohibitions of this policy, as well as 
basic de-escalation procedures.  Personnel who have only received such general 
training are not authorized to use restraint or seclusion upon any student. 

D. Procedures for Managing the Behavior of Students.  General procedures for managing 
student behavior are found in Board policies, District and each school’s Code of Conduct, 
and student handbooks. Behavior of individual students may be addressed in applicable 
individualized educational plans, 504 plans, behavior intervention plans, or other such 
individualized documents.  The Superintendent is authorized to establish additional 
procedures for managing student behavior and to implement this Policy as needed. Such 
procedures shall be consistent with all Board policies and all applicable laws or regulations.    
The Superintendent is further authorized to establish any other procedures necessary to 
implement this policy and/or any other legal requirements. 

E. Provisions Governing the Circumstances in Which – and Conditions by Which Forms of 
Restraint May and May Not Be Used. 
   

1. Authorized Use of Restraint. 
   

a. General. 
   

i. Restraint may only be used by trained personnel using extreme 
caution when all other interventions have failed or have been deemed 
inappropriate. 

ii. The determination of whether the use of restraint is justified in a 
specific instance must be made with consideration of all relevant 
circumstances, including whether continued acts of violence by a 
child to inflict damage to property will create a substantial risk of 
serious bodily harm to the child or others. 

iii. Restraint may only be used to ensure the immediate physical safety 
of any person when there is a substantial and imminent risk of serious 
bodily harm to the student or others.   

iv. Restraint shall never be used either explicitly or implicitly as 
punishment for the behavior of a child. 



v. Restraint will not be imposed for longer than is necessary to protect 
the student or others from the substantial and imminent risk of 
serious bodily harm.  

vi. Restraint will be discontinued immediately if a child demonstrates 
signs of one or more of the following: difficulty breathing; choking; 
vomiting; bleeding; fainting; unconsciousness; discoloration; swelling 
at points of restraint; cold extremities, or similar manifestations. 

b. Restraint Periods Exceeding 15 Minutes.  Pursuant to RSA 126-U:11, no 
period of restraint of a student may exceed 15 minutes without the approval 
of a supervisory employee designated by the Superintendent or Principal to 
provide such approval.  
 
However, no period of restraint of a student may exceed 30 minutes unless an 
assessment of the mental, emotional, and physical well-being of the student 
is conducted by an employee trained and authorized to make such 
assessments. 
 
Such assessments shall be repeated at least every 30 minutes during the 
period of restraint. Each such assessment shall be documented in writing and 
such records shall be retained by as part of the Written Notification required 
in Section G.1.c__, below. 

2. Prohibition of Certain Forms of Restraint.  The use of any dangerous restraint 
technique as defined in Section A, above, is prohibited. Additionally, medical and 
mechanical restraints are prohibited except that limited mechanical restraint may be 
used in transportation as described in and subject to the conditions set forth in 
paragraph 3, of this Section. 

3. Limited Use of Mechanical Restraints During Transportation.  Pursuant to RSA 126-
U6, the use of Mechanical Restraints is generally prohibited.  However, RSA 126-
U:12 allows the use of mechanical restraint during transportation when case-specific 
circumstances dictate that such methods are necessary. 
 
Whenever a student is transported to a location outside the school, the 
Superintendent or designee will ensure that all reasonable and appropriate measures 
consistent with public safety are made to transport or escort the student in a 
manner which: 
   

a. Prevents physical and psychological trauma; 

b. Respects the privacy of the child; and 

c. Represents the least restrictive means necessary for the safety of the child. 

Whenever a student is transported using mechanical restraints, the Superintendent or 
designee will document in writing the reasons for the use of the mechanical restraints 
as described in Section G.3___ below. 

4. Reporting and Notification.  Any occurrence or incident or occurrence in which 
restraint is used shall be followed by reports and notification as described in Section 
G___, below.   
  

F. Use of Seclusion. 
   



1. Circumstances in Which - and Conditions by Which - Seclusion May and May Not 
Be Used. 
   

a. Seclusion may only be used by personnel trained in the proper use of 
seclusion as provided in Section C___, above. 

b. Seclusion may only be used when a student's behavior poses a substantial 
and imminent risk of physical harm to the student or others and may only 
continue until that danger has dissipated. 

c. Seclusion shall only be used after other approaches to the control of 
behavior have been attempted and been unsuccessful or are reasonably 
concluded to be unlikely to succeed based on the history of actual attempts 
to control the behavior of a particular child. 

d. Seclusion will not be used explicitly or implicitly as a form of punishment or 
discipline for the behavior of a student.  

e. Seclusion shall not be used in a manner that unnecessarily subjects the child 
to the risk of ridicule, humiliation, or emotional or physical harm. 
  

2. Conditions of Seclusion.  When seclusion is permitted under this policy, 
   

a. it may only be imposed in rooms which: 
   

i. Are of a size which is appropriate for the chronological and 
developmental age, size, and behavior of the children placed in them. 

ii. Have a ceiling height that is comparable to the ceiling height of the 
other rooms in the building in which they are located. 

iii. Are equipped with heating, cooling, ventilation, and lighting systems 
that are comparable to the systems that are in use in the other rooms 
of the building in which they are located. 

iv. Are free of any object that poses a danger to the children being 
placed in the rooms. 

v. Have doors which are either not equipped with locks or are equipped 
with devices that automatically disengage the lock in case of an 
emergency. For the purposes of this subparagraph, an "emergency" 
includes, but is not limited to: 
   

A. The need to provide direct and immediate medical attention 
to a child; 

B. Fire; 

C. The need to remove a child to a safe location during a building 
lockdown; or 



D. Other critical situations that may require immediate removal 
of a child from seclusion to a safe location. 

b. Each use of seclusion shall be directly and continuously visually and 
auditorily monitored by a person trained in the safe use of seclusion (e.g., in 
person, window with accommodation for sound, video with audio feed).  

3. Required Use of Co-Regulators.  When seclusion is used, the Principal, or when he 
or she is not immediately available, her/his designee or the then supervising 
employee, shall designate a co-regulator to monitor the child and develop a plan to 
help the child manage their state of regulation and their return to a less restrictive 
setting.  The co-regulator shall check the child at regular intervals not to exceed 30 
minutes between any one interval.  The co-regulator shall be selected and 
designated in the following order of preference:  

a. A trusted adult selected by the child. 

b. A clinician or counselor trained in trauma informed practices. 

c. A staff member known to have a positive relationship with the child. 

d. A staff member who was NOT involved in the incident that led to seclusion. 

4. Reporting and notification.  Any occurrence or incident  in which seclusion is used 
shall be documented and followed with reports and notification as described in 
Section G, below.  Multiple incidents of seclusion/restraint may be present within a 
single occurrence, and should be individually described within the reports and 
notifications. 

G. Reporting, Notification and Record Keeping Requirements.    
   

1. Restraint and Seclusion. Whenever restraint or seclusion has been used on a child, 
the following shall apply:  

a. Immediate verbal report to Principal, designee or then current supervising 
employee: Immediately after the occurrence of seclusion or restraint and any 
threat to safety is no longer imminent, the employee who uses seclusion or 
restraint shall provide verbal notice to the Principal, principal’s designee or 
other supervising employee on duty. 

b. Initial Notification to Parent/Guardian: Upon receipt of a report of the use of 
seclusion or restraint, and unless prohibited by court order, the Principal, 
principal’s designee or other supervising employee who received the 
immediate verbal report described in Paragraph G.1.a, s/he shall make 
reasonable efforts to contact the child’s parent or guardian as soon as is 
practicable, but in no later than the time of the return of the child to the 
parent/guardian or the end of the business day, whichever is earlier. The form of 
notice shall be in the manner calculated to give the parent/guardian actual 
notice of the incident at the earliest possible time. 

c. Written Notification to Superintendent: Within five business days of the use 
of seclusion or restraint, the employee who used seclusion or restraint on a 
child, will, with the assistance of the Principal or other employee who 
received the immediate verbal report (or if the employee is not available, the 
Principal or other recipient of the immediate report) will submit written 
notification on the form provided by the New Hampshire Departments of 
Education and Health and Human Services (the “DOE/DHHS form”) to the 
Superintendent. In the absence of the availability of the DOE/DHHS form, 
the submission shall nonetheless be in writing and include all of the 



information required under RSA 126-U:7, II. The DOE/DHHS form or other 
writing used will be referred to as the Written Notification.    
[[ii]Delete endnote] 
 
If the use of restraint on a child exceeded 30 minutes, the Written 
Notification shall also include information pertaining to the assessments 
described in Section E.1.b, above. 

d. Written Information to Parent/Guardian: Unless prohibited by court order, 
within 2 business days of receipt of the Written Notification, the 
Superintendent/designee shall send by USPS first class mail, or transmit by 
electronic means, to the child’s parent/guardian all of the information 
included in the Written Notification or the Written Notification itself. 

e. Final Investigation and Report: [[iii] Delete endnote] The Superintendent or 
Superintendent’s designee shall review and investigate each incident of 
seclusion or restraint for a determination as to whether the use complied 
with this policy, RSA 126-U and Ed 1201-1203.  After the completion of a 
reasonable review/investigation, the Superintendent or her/his designee, 
shall follow the Written Notification with a Final Report of the incident.  The 
Final Report should include findings and conclusions, the documentary and 
other physical evidence (or summary of oral evidence), and a description of 
actions taken in response to those findings and conclusions. 

2. Additional Reporting Required for Injury or Death of a Child Subject to Restraint or 
Seclusion.  In cases involving serious injury or death to a child subject to restraint or 
seclusion in a school, the Principal/Superintendent designee shall, in addition to the 
reports and notifications described above, and in accordance with the provisions of 
RSA 126-U:7, notify the Commissioner of the Department of Education, the New 
Hampshire Attorney General, general, and the New Hampshire Disability Rights 
Center using the contact information provided by the Department of Education. 
[[iv]Delete endnote] Such notice shall include the Official/Written Notification 
required in Section G.c, above. 

3. Additional Documentation Regarding Use of Mechanical Restraint.   Whenever a 
child is transported using mechanical restraints, the person(s) completing the Official 
Report Form/written notification described in G.1.c, above, shall include the reasons 
for the use of mechanical restraints. Such documentation shall be treated and 
retained as a notification of restraint under RSA 126-U:7. [[v]Delete endnote] 

4. Documentation for Other Intentional Physical Contact Between Employee and 
Student.  The following shall apply whenever there is an instance where a school 
employee or designated volunteer has intentional physical contact with a student in 
response to a student's aggressive misconduct or disruptive behavior. 
   

a. Notice to parents: the Principal, designee or other supervising employee will 
make reasonable efforts to promptly notify the student's parent or guardian. 
Such notification shall be made no later the time of the return of the child to the 
parent/guardian or the end of the business day, whichever is earlier. The form of 
notice shall be in the manner calculated to give the parent/guardian actual 
notice of the incident at the earliest possible time.  

b. Physical Contact Written Description: Unless the incident is subject to the 
notice and reporting requirements of Section G.1 above, the Principal shall 
prepare a written description of the incident (“Physical Contact Written 
Description”) of the incident within five (5) business days of the 
occurrence/incident.  The Physical Contact Written Description will include:  



i. The date and time of the incident. 

ii. A brief description of the actions of the child before, during, and after 
the occurrence. 

iii. The names of the persons involved in the occurrence. 

iv. A brief description of the actions of the facility or school employees 
involved before, during, and after the occurrence. 

v. A description of any injuries sustained by, and any medical care 
administered to, the child, employees, or others before, during, or 
after the incident. 

5. Circumstances when Reporting/Notification is not Required.  The notification, 
reporting and record keeping requirements included in this Section G___ are not 
required in the following circumstances: 
   

a. When a child is escorted from an area by way of holding of the hand, wrist, 
arm, shoulder, or back to induce the child to walk to a safe location. If, 
however, the child is actively combative, assaultive, or causes self-injury 
while being escorted, then the notification requirements described above are 
applicable. 

b. When actions are taken such as separating children from each other, 
inducing a child to stand, or otherwise physically preparing a child to be 
escorted. 

c. When the contact with the child is incidental or minor, such as for the 
purpose of gaining a misbehaving child’s attention. However, blocking of a 
blow, forcible release from a grasp, or other significant and intentional 
physical contact with a disruptive or assaultive child shall be subject to the 
notification and reporting requirements described above. 

6. Retention of Records.  All reports, notifications and other records created pursuant 
to this Section, or Sections H, I or J, shall be retained [the term of the student’s 
enrollment plus three years, unless: 
   

a. the student is or was a student with an individualized educational program, in 
which case, the records shall be retained and destroyed in accordance with 
paragraph B.1 of Board policy {**} EHB; or 

b. a longer period is required pursuant to instruction by the Department of 
Education or the Department of Health and Human Services.[[vii]Delete 
endnote]  

H. Mandatory Reporting of Violations by Others.  Any school employee who has reason to 
believe that the action of another may constitute a violation of this policy, or the provisions 
of RSA 126-U, must report the suspected violation to the Principal or Superintendent in 
accordance with the reporting procedures of Board policy {**} GBEAB.  The conduct giving 
rise to the suspected violation may well likely require reporting under Board policies {**} JLF 
– Reporting Child Abuse or Neglect.   

I. Complaints of Violation of RSA 126-U. [[viii]  Delete Endnote]   Any individual may file a 
complaint with the Superintendent’s office alleging a violation of this policy or RSA 126-U. 
The complainant should be encouraged to file the complaint in writing with the information 
listed in paragraph 1 below, but if declined, the Superintendent/designee should promptly 
prepare a written summary of the complaint with such information as could be obtained 



from the complainant.  The complaint should be made as soon as possible after the 
incident.  (Note that under Ed 1203.02,  complaints to the New Hampshire Department of 
Education made more than twelve months after an incident will be dismissed by the 
Department.)  

1. Complaint Contents. The written complaint or complaint summary should include:  

a. The complainant’s name, unless the complaint refuses; 

b. The date or approximate date of the alleged incident; 

c. The location of the alleged incident; 

d. The name of the child or children subject to the alleged restraint or seclusion, 
if known; 

e. The name of the school personnel alleged to have restrained or secluded the 
child, if known; 

f. A description of the alleged restraint or seclusion; and 

g. The date of complaint. 

2. Investigation and Resolution of Complaint. The complaint or grievance will be 
investigated by the Superintendent, or another person designated by the 
Superintendent. The Complainant should be contacted no later than 5 business days 
(excluding school year vacations) following the date of the complaint. 
 
In most cases, investigation of the complaint should be completed within 20 days 
following receipt of the complaint. If the Superintendent is not personally 
conducting the investigation, however, the extension of time must first be approved 
by the Superintendent. When extra time is required, the reasons for the extension 
should be included in the final investigative report. 
 
A written investigative report of the findings and conclusions (whether the 
complaint is founded or unfounded) should be completed within five days of 
completion of the investigation. In addition to findings and conclusions, the 
investigative report must include the documentation of the evidence (or summary of 
oral evidence) relied upon. 
 
The Superintendent will contact the complainant within 5 days after the report is 
completed to discuss the completion of the investigation.  The amount of 
information provided is dependent on the nature of the complainant and the legal 
privacy of the concerned parties.   If the complainant is the parent or guardian of the 
child concerned, the Superintendent may allow the parent/guardian access to the 
written report in the same manner as any other student record.  
 
The Superintendent shall take such actions as are appropriate in light of the 
investigative report, including, without limitation, any mandatory or discretionary 
reports to outside agencies, employee discipline, ordering further investigation, 
training, etc..  
 
Any further review of the original complaint or investigative report will be in 
accordance with other established processes, e.g., grievance processes within 
applicable collective bargaining agreements, Board policies relating to complaints 
such as found in {**} KEB and {**} GBK. 
 
The written complaint/complaint summary, the investigative report, evidence and 
other documents concerning the complaint shall be retained in accordance with Ed 
1202.02(e). 



J. Review of IEP or 504 Plan Following the Use of Restraint or Seclusion.  Pursuant to RSA 
126-U:14, upon information that restraint or seclusion has been used for the first time upon 
a child with a disability as defined in RSA 186-C:2, I or a child who is receiving services 
under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. section 701, and its 
implementing regulations, the school shall review the individual educational program and/or 
Section 504 plan and make such adjustments as are indicated to eliminate or reduce the 
future use of restraint or seclusion. 
 
If there have been multiple instances of restraint or seclusion of a child with a disability 
since the last IEP/504 plan review, an additional review shall occur at the request of the 
parent or guardian of the child. 

K. Prohibition Against Retaliation or Harassment.  No person shall subject any individual to 
harassment or retaliation for filing, in good faith, a report under this policy, RSA 126-U, or 
Department of Education Rules Ed 1200. Dissemination of Policy. A copy of this policy shall 
be provided to the parent, guardian, or legal representative of each full or part-time student 
upon enrollment, and annually thereafter printed in each student handbook.  Additionally, 
the policy will be included on each school’s website and/or the online School Board Policy 
Manual available to the general public. 

L. Dissemination of Policy. A copy of this policy shall be provided to the parent, guardian, or 
legal representative of each full or part-time student upon enrollment, and annually 
thereafter printed in each student handbook.  Additionally, the policy will be included on 
each school’s website and/or the online School Board Policy Manual available to the general 
public. 

   

 

 
District Policy History:  

First reading:                                                   
Second reading/adopted:                                 
 
District revision history: 

______________________________________________ 
ENDNOTES 

   
[i]   [Delete endnote]  Although RSA 126-U does not specifically require such training, failing to 
provide greatly increases the likelihood that untrained staff will react to a situation with the 
unauthorized and prohibited use of restraint or seclusion.  
[ii]  [Delete endnote]  As of  August 10, the form to be developed by DOE and DHHS was not 
available. Pending the release of that form, districts should use the same submission formats used 
in the past, which, in turn, were required under RSA 126-U:7, II, to include the same information 
now required to be included n the DOE/DHHS Official Report Form. 
[iii]  [Delete endnote] Although neither the statute nor the rules discuss a procedure for finalizing a 
report relative to an instance of restraint or seclusion, both reference the fact of one.  See 126-U:7, 
II (m), Ed 1202.02 (b)(13) and Ed 1202.03 (c)(13).   
[iv]  [Delete endnote] The New Hampshire Disability Rights Center is New Hampshire’s federally-
designated protection and advocacy agency for individuals with disabilities 



[v]  [Delete endnote] This sentence is verbatim from RSA 126-U:12, III except for the inclusion of 
“and retained”. Although somewhat ambiguous, NHSBA recommends that the documentation of 
reasons for use of the mechanical restraint should be included with/supplemental to the report and 
records required under 126-U:7.  
[vi]  [Delete endnote] The statute (126-U:7, V) does not include designated volunteers, but the exact 
same principles apply, as would the subsequent investigation by DOE in the event a parent takes 
exception to the contact. 
[vii] [Delete endnote] Multiple provisions of RSA 126-U include statements to the effect of retaining 
records in accordance with Dept of Ed rules.  However, those rules do not include a finite 
date.  Rather, they indicate that they must be retained and available for both the mandatory three 
year DOE review, or otherwise when DOE investigates complaints of violations of 126-U or Ed 
1200 rules. 
[viii] [Delete endnote]  Neither 126-U nor DOE rules Chapter 1200 include specific provisions 
relating to a district level complaint process.  However, Ed 1202.02   provides that “[s]chools shall 
document complaints that they determine do not meet the criteria for a violation of 126-U”, and 
then further requires the District to maintain those records for possible DOE/DHHS 
review.  Additionally, the statute and rules both provide for a complaint process at the DOE level, 
with the DOE rules allowing “any individual” to file such a complaint – even anonymously – with no 
written complaint required.  NHSBA, therefore, believes as a matter of board policy, having a 
specific process outline for reviewing and documenting such complaints at the district level is 
warranted. 

   

  

 

  

DISCLAIMER: This sample policy manual is copyrighted to the New Hampshire School Boards Association and is intended for the sole and 
exclusive use of NHSBA Policy Service Subscribers. No portion of this manual may be reproduced, copied, transmitted, distributed, in any form, 
except as needed for the development of policy by a subscribing district. The materials contained in the manual are provided for general 
information only and as a resource to assist subscribing districts with policy development. School districts and boards of education should consult 
with legal counsel and revise all sample policies and regulations to address local facts and circumstances prior to adoption. NHSBA continually 
makes revisions based on school districts' needs and local, state and federal laws, regulations and court decisions, and other relevant education 
activity.  

NH Statutes Description 
RSA 126-U Limiting the Use of Child Restraint Practices 

RSA 169-C:29-39 Reporting Law 

RSA 186-C Special Education 

NH Dept of Ed Regulation Description 
N.H. Code of Admin. Rules Chapter 1200 Restraint and Seclusion for Children 

Federal Statutes Description 
Section 504, 29 U.S.C. 701, et. seq. Section 504 of The Rehabilitation Act of 1973 

Cross References 

Code Description 
EBB School Safety 

EHB Data/Records Retention 

https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/X/126-U/126-U-mrg.htm#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XII/169-C/169-C-mrg.htm#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rsa/html/XV/186-C/186-C-mrg.htm#
https://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rules/state_agencies/ed1200.html#
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/29/701#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=P5fzvr72NrB8ku5C7aiOslshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=xQq1Yjuvx4mf2cdcROPSZg==#


EHB-R(1) Data/Records Retention  - Local Records Retention Schedule 

GBEAB Mandatory Code of Conduct Reporting - All Employees 

JLF Reporting Child Abuse or Neglect 

JRA Student Records and Access (FERPA) 

JRA-R(1) Student Records and Access (FERPA) 

 

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=s0LjTcowloslshtbsewcfRUOQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=owuP271wwUplusrgVhs70yEQw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=TwPYQ0GjgxLslshCinWLSQcZw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=rwMA27kqPj0jK2chNN9rhA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031472&revid=50bDZL5hNhj0ZFwy8sVuyA==#




      © 2023 Diligent Corporation

Public Policy
Taking policy development to the next level

September 11, 2023



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           2

Public policy: Taking policy development to the next level

Scott Peters
School Board Chair, Monadnock 
Regional School District, New 
Hampshire

Heather Masshardt
Director of  Policy 
Services,  Pennsylvania School 
Boards Association

Sarah Gutierrez
Policy Implementation Manager, 
Diligent



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           3

Agenda 

I. Introduction 

II. Importance of Policy Development

III.Monadnock Regional School District’s Policy Journey 

IV.Dissecting Policies: The Good, Bad, Ugly

V.10 Best Tips for Policy Development 



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           4      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           4

Importance of Policy Development



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           5

‒ Legal documents

‒ Public-facing

‒ Document compliance

‒ Establish the board’s course of action

‒ Provide consistency and continuity

‒ Serve as a communication and accountability tool

Importance of Policy Documents



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           6      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           6

Our Policy Journey
Monadnock Regional School District



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           7

Policy – District History

1963

‒ Articles of 
Incorporation & 
Student 
Handbooks

1963 – 1993:  30 
Years of paper:

1993: District 
adopts NHSBA 
recommended 
Policy Binder

1993 – 2016:  23 
years of reacting:

Status at the end 
of 2016:

‒ Policies written 
down on an as-
needed basis

‒ ZERO routine 
maintenance or 
cleanup

‒ Paper template 
‘kit’, reprinted 
with district 
identifiers

‒ New state laws, 
or controversial 
issues needing 
attention

‒ Polices posted 
to web site were 
scanned PDFs

‒ ZERO routine 
maintenance or 
cleanup

‒ Policies were going 
out of date faster than 
the board could 
review legislation and 
update/adopt new 
content

‒ The Board would react 
and focus a large 
portion of a meeting 
on a singular policy, 
just to settle a dispute, 
taking away from time 
for strategy and the 
bigger picture



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           8

• Completed the inventory (spreadsheet)

• Created a compare list against all NHSBA policies

• Created a backlog, including the NHSBA audit 
details

• Realized that the district had hundreds of policies 
that are not aligned with current SAU ID, current 
statutes, or NHSBA policy database

Policy - Investment

2017 – Invested in online Policy Database (BoardDocs)

• …but discovered we didn’t have anything ready to 
load, only scan PDFs

• The first policy spreadsheet was born, just to track 
the conversion work

• Purchased a one-time Audit from NHSBA.  The 
results were… extensive

Late 2017 – The big push begins



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           9

Policy Log In Action

•MINDSET CHANGE: This is the essential work of the School Board, not the Administration

•Create a Tracker, Stick With It

•Update Tracker (log) when you make changes

•Update Tracker (log) when bulletins are released

•Spreadsheet Key

•Sort Column

•Master List of 
Codes         from Both 
Sources

•Master List Extract

•From NHSBA Library

•Metadata Extract

•From District Policy Library

•Formula



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           10

The Policy Committee

Should
• Create a charter

• Create annual goals

• Do the work of the committee

• Focus on policy and strategy

• Write down / create artifacts

Should Not
• Expect Administration to do it

• Focus on operations

• Focus on specific student 
examples



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           11

The Superintendent

Should
• Provide insight into 

policy execution

• Remind the committee of 
their role and responsibilities

‒ Combat “tradition” with facts 
and RSAs

• Make 1:1 board member 
calls as needed

Should Not
• Overreact

•  Wimp out

• Let behavior go on too long



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           12

Policy – Roles & Responsibilities
Task Policy Committee

Policy Committee
Chair

Full Board Superintendent
District Administrative 

Assistant

Manage Backlog •

Review Bulletins • •

Ensure Required Policies are Current • •

Prepare Policy Drafts • •

Advise on Past Practice •

Advise on Implementation •

Attend State Hearings / Testify on RSA Impact •

Discuss/Debate Procedure (operational impact) •

Debate Policy Changes • •

Approve/Adopt Policy Changes •

Post Changes / Administer Database • •

Announce Changes •

Document & Train Procedures •

Manage Implementation •



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           13

NHSBA Bulletin Cycles

• House Sessions

• Senate Sessions

• DOE Policy Changes

• Federal Regulation 
Changes

October – 
March

• New Sample Policies

• Updates to Sample 
Policies

• Reasons for Change

• Recommendations

NHSBA Spring 
Bulletin • House Sessions

• Senate Sessions

• DOE Policy Changes

• Federal Regulation 
Changes

April-
September

• New Sample Policies

• Updates to Sample 
Policies

• Reasons for Change

• Recommendations

HSBA Fall 
Bulletin

MINDSET CHANGE:  Policy Management requires the right mentality:

• It is a continuous improvement journey for every board, every year

• It is not something to ignore, and it is not a race to ‘finish’ something

• It’s the job of the School Board, not Administration



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           15

Year In Review:  Backlog Volume

9 14

140

43

11

11

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Count of Policies in Backlog by Month

With Board On Agenda Backlog With Admin or Committee

Final Policy from 
2017 NHSBA 

Audit Resolved 
1/7/2020



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           17

Pass, 77

Reviewed (No 
Action Taken), 27

Administrative 
Update, 10

Retired, 4

Count of Policies Reviewed and Their Final Action

MINDSET CHANGE:  Boards Need To Show Progress & Celebrate Success:

• The annual Turn of the Board is the best time for a year in review

• Board members need to agree on the focus/direction of the policy committee

• Board members need to acknowledge the time investment of their peers

Year In Review:  Outcomes



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           18

How Does The Board Prioritize Policy Work?

1.Respond to Auditors 

2.Semi-Annual Bulletins

3.Administration Requests

4.Referrals from Full Board

5.Referrals from Committees

6.Requests from Individuals

1.Students
2.Staff
3.Public
4.Finance
5.Board 
Governance

When we have to choose within a category:

Ties Resolved 
by Urgency of 
Topic

• MINDSET CHANGE:  Focusing on the bigger picture requires sacrifice:
• The full board must agree on the priorities of the policy committee



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           19

Policy Cycle
Policy 
Log

Audits

Referr
als

Bulleti
ns

Do Nothing 
(Disposition)

Administrative 
Update

Refer to 
Administration

Refer to 
Another 

Committee

Motion to Full 
Board

OROR

END

Adopt
/Retire



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           20

Policy Takeaways 

Toolbox

‒ Continuous Improvement Mentality

‒ It’s the Job of the School Board, not Administration

‒ Empower Each Member of the Policy Committee:

‒ Access to Tracker/Log, NHSBA database, bulletins

‒ Assign ‘homework’: each committee member read, 
compare, & recommend at least one policy between 
each meeting

‒ Once you start, don’t stop!

‒ <your state> SBA Legislation Bulletins

‒ Policy Database

‒ Policy Backlog / Action Tracker

‒ Metadata:  Data ABOUT your policies that should NOT be stored 
WITHIN your policies

‒ Is it required by law?

‒ Last Updated & Last Reviewed Dates

‒ Is it current?

‒ Adopt Policies that Empower your Policy Committee

Culture & Mentality



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           21      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           21

Dissecting Policies:
The Good, Bad, and the Ugly



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           22

• Policy manual 
scanned as an 
image file, showing 
visible hole 
punches and 
crooked pages.



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           23

•Policy documents 
scanned with an old 
font that is challenging 
to read online.



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           24

• Scanned policy 
documents with 
unclear legal 
references and 
difficult readability.



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           25

• Policy manual 
posted online as 
PDF documents in 
folders, lacking 
numbering or 
proper organization.



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           26

• Headings and spacing

•Font style for readability

•Legal citations

•Organization

•Searchability

•Printable and shareable



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           27

Policy Publisher for Diligent Community



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           28

•Organization

•Font style for 
readability

•Searchability



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           29

• Headings and 
spacing

• Font style for 
readability



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           30      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           30

10 Best Tips for Policy Development



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           31

6. Leverage Bulletins, Adopt Templates 
with Modifications and Consult Counsel

7. Assign Homework to Committee 
Members

8. Empower the Committee for 
Administrative Updates

9. Document Annual Policy Timing 
Cycles

10. Regularly Present Progress to the 
Full Board

1. Be Organized and 
Supportive

2. Create a Policy Log/Tracker, but be 
flexible

3. Once you start tracking, don't 
stop

4. Define Roles and Responsibilities

5. Clarify Policy versus Procedure

Managing the Policy Updates : Tips to Succeed



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           32      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           32

Thank You!
Questions?



      © 2023 Diligent Corporation           33

We want your feedback!

Scan the QR Code

We'd love to hear more about how 
you are using our software and what 
features and content you'd like to 
see from us in the future!

Fill in our short survey >>>

SCAN ME





October 3, 2023 School Board Meeting
Budget Transfers

Budget Transfers

1. Requested by: Catherine Woods, Director of Student Services
◆ From: 01.2150.51100.09.00000 Speech Services Salaries $ 59,296

To: 01.1200.54300.09.00000 Contracted Services $ 59,296
◆ Amount: $59,296
◆ Reason: To contract for Speech Language Pathologist and Speech Language

Pathologist Assistant services to cover services for positions that we have not
been able to fill (additional days of service from last meeting)

2. Requested by: Catherine Woods, Director of Student Services
◆ From: 01.1200.51100.00.00000 Special Educator Salaries $ 51,350

● 01.1200.52110.00.00000 Special Educator Health Ins $ 21,391
● 01.1200.52120.00.00000 Special Educator Dental Ins $ 945
● 01.1200.52220.00.00000 Special Educator Fica $ 3,928
● 01.1200.52300.00.00000 Special Educator Retirement $ 10,085

To: 01.1200.55690.09.00000 OOD Private Tuition $ 87,699
◆ Amount: $87,699
◆ Reason: Transfer to Out of District Tuition from unfilled Middle School Life Skills

position, choosing not to fill at this time.

3. Requested by: Catherine Woods, Director of Student Services
◆ From: 01.1200.51100.02.00000 Special Educator Salaries $ 58,408

● 01.1200.52110.02.00000 Special Educator Health Ins $ 21,391
● 01.1200.52120.02.00000 Special Educator Dental Ins $ 945
● 01.1200.52220.02.00000 Special Educator Fica $ 4,285
● 01.1200.52300.02.00000 Special Educator Retirement $ 11,000

To: 01.1200.55690.09.00000 OOD Private Tuition $ 96,029
◆ Amount: $96,029
◆ Reason: Transfer to Out of District Tuition from unfilled Cutler Special Educator

position, choosing not to fill at this time.



Bids for Truck with Plow for Buildings & Grounds

2024 GMC 2500HD Sierra with Plow Bid

Fairfields $62,867
Auto Mall $62,904
Durand $64,379



Staffing Changes 2023 Totals

9/25/2023 9:35:36

Total Vacancies 2023/24 Count Current Vacancies 2023/24 Count
Paraprofessional 17 Paraprofessional 7

Special Ed Teacher 7 Special Ed Teacher 2
Social Worker 2 Social Worker 1

Buildings & Grounds 1 Buildings & Grounds 1
Nurse 2 Nurse 1

Reading Specialist 1 Reading Specialist 1
School Psychologist (.5) 1 School Psychologist (.5) 1

Spanish Teacher 1 Spanish Teacher 1
School Counselor (.6) 1 School Counselor (.6) 1

Science Teacher 2 Science Teacher 0
Elementary Teacher 6 Elementary Teacher 0

Math Teacher 2 Math Teacher 0
Art Teacher 1 Art Teacher 0

Administrative Assistant 1 Administrative Assistant 0
Wellness Interventionist 1 Wellness Interventionist 0

Speech Pathologist 2 Speech Pathologist 0
School Psychologist 2 School Psychologist 0

ASL Interpreter 1 ASL Interpreter 0
Principal 1 Principal 0

Assistant Principal 1 Assistant Principal 0
Social Studies Teacher 1 Social Studies Teacher 0
Woodworking Teacher 1 Woodworking Teacher 0

Grant - School Counselor (.5) 1 Grant - School Counselor (.5) 0
English Teacher 3 English Teacher 0

School Counselor 2 School Counselor 0
District Data Specialist 1 District Data Specialist 0
Intervention Teacher 1 Intervention Teacher 0

Contracted Services: School 
Psychologist (2), ASL Interpreter (1), 
Speech Pathologist (2)

9/25/2023 63 9/25/2023 16



MRSD School Board
Strategic Goals 2023/24

Board Approved 8/22/2023

1. By the final meeting of this board (3/5/2024), interview, select, and hire a new Superintendent to begin
employment with the district on or before 7/1/2024

2. By 10/31/2023, document the School Board’s educational philosophy and first long-term educational strategy,
to be included in the FY2024/25 proposed budget

3. By 10/31/2023, complete the annual Capital Improvement Plan. Present recommendations for the next wave
of SAU or MRMHS capital projects to be included in the proposed budget, a warrant article, or a specific
strategy to fund either of the related trust funds via warrant article

4. At the second monthly board meeting from September through February, the board will receive a report and
then study a specific cohort of students. On or before the end of this school board’s term (3/11/2024), combine
these studies with the work of this year’s Education committee, and craft one or more continuous improvement
initiatives for the cohort and/or the next generation of students

a. Proposed cohort
i. Grade 5 (class of 2031)
ii. Grade 8 (class of 2028)
iii. Grade 11 (class of 2025)

b. Areas of study: Aligned with the Education Committee’s defined measurement categories:
i. Ready for School
ii. Competency
iii. Growth
iv. Achievement
v. Work Ethic
vi. Behavior
vii. Attendance
viii. Nutrition
ix. Ready to Launch



1 

 
                Monadnock Regional School District (MRSD) 

   School Board Meeting Minutes 
                                       September 19, 2023 (Not Yet Approved) 
                                              MRMHS Library, Swanzey, NH 
 
 
Members Present: Kristen Noonan, Jeff Cesaitis, Brian Bohannon, Betty Tatro, Cheryl 
McDaniel-Thomas, Lisa Steadman, and Stephanie Lawlor. Absent: Jennifer Strimbeck, Eric 
Stanley, Edmond LaPlante, Scott Peters, Gina Carraro, Dan LeClair  
 
Administration Present: L. Walker, Superintendent, J. Rathbun, Assistant Superintendent and 
J. Morin, Business Administrator.  
  
1. CALL THE MEETING TO ORDER at 7:00 PM. L. Steadman called the meeting to 
order.  
 
2. PUBLIC COMMENTS: There were no public comments.   
 
3.  #CelebrateMRSD:  
 a. L. Walker explained that the students are back and everything is continuing to go 
well.  
 b. L. Steadman explained that the Middle School Football Team will be playing on 
Saturday for Homecoming.  
 
4. MATTERS THAT BOARD ACTION:  
 a. September 5, 2023 Meeting Minutes: MOTION: B.Bohannon MOVED to 
approve the September 5, 2023 School Board Meeting Minutes as presented. SECOND: C. 
McDaniel-Thomas VOTE: 7.177/0/0/5.5.283. Motion passes. 

b. Manifest: MOTION: S.Lawlor MOVED to approve the manifest in the amount 
of $1,824,342.28 as presented by the administration. SECOND: B. Tatro VOTE: 
7.717/0/0/5.283 Motion passes.  

c.  Budget Transfers: MOTION: K. Noonan MOVED to accept the budget 
transfer request from C. Woods in the amount $122,000.00 from Speech Services Salaries and 
benefits lines to the Contracted Service line for a Speech and Language Pathologist and an 
Assistant Speech and Language Pathologist. SECOND: B. Bohannon. DISCUSSION:  It was 
explained that the District is not able to fill the positions so it will be covered by a contracted 
service position. VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.283. Motion passes.  

  
d. DOE 25/MS 25 Signatures: J. Morin asked the Board Members to sign the DOE 

25 and the MS 25. She also asked L. Steadman to sign under the Board Chair spot  



2 

e.         NHSBA Resolutions: MOTION: C. McDaniel-Thomas MOVED not to support 
the Proposed Resolution # 8 submitted by the Oyster River Cooperative School Board. 
SECOND: J. Cesaitis. DISCUSSION: The Board agrees with the NHSBA to not support. 
VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.238. Motion passes. MOTION: K. Noonan MOVED to support the 
Proposed Alternative Resolution submitted by the NHSBA for the original Proposed Resolution 
#9 submitted by the Dover School District. SECOND: C. McDaniel-Thomas.VOTE: 
7.717/0/0/5.328. Motion passes. MOTION: K. Noonan MOVED not to support the Proposed 
Resolution #10 submitted by the Raymond School Board. SECOND: C. McDaniel-Thomas. 
VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.328. Motion passes. MOTION: C. McDaniel-Thomas MOVED to support 
the Proposed Alternative Resolution submitted by the NHSBA for the original Proposed 
Resolution #11 submitted by the Monadnock School Board. The Proposed Alternative 
Resolution is in regards to any legislation that intends to streamline the recruiting, credentialing 
and hiring of certified teachers and other licensed school staff from other states. SECOND: K. 
Noonan VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.328. Motion passes. MOTION: B. Bohannon MOVED to support 
the Proposed Alternative Resolution submitted by the NHSBA for the original Proposed 
Resolution #12 submitted by the Monadnock School Board. The Proposed Alternative 
Resolution is in regards to urging the NH Legislature and DOE to clarify the responsibilities, 
obligations and rights of school boards and school districts when students do not attend school 
on a regular basis; are habitually truant; and otherwise do not conform to the rules and 
regulations of the district. SECOND: C. McDaniel-Thomas. DISCUSSION: K. Noonan 
commented that this is not exactly the proposed resolution. J. Cesaitis said he likes this 
alternative resolution better. VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.328. Motion passes. MOTION: C. McDaniel-
Thomas MOVED to support the Proposed Resolution #13 submitted by the Monadnock School 
Board as follows: The NHSBA will support legislation that creates flexibility for town 
moderators and moderators of cooperative school districts to postpone school district elections in 
the event of inclement weather. SECOND: K. Noonan VOTE: 6.619/0/1.098/5.238. Motion 
passes. MOTION: K. Noonan MOVED to support the Proposed Resolution # 14 submitted 
from the Manchester Board of School Committee. SECOND: B. Tatro. VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.328. 
Motion passes. MOTION: B. Bohannon MOVED to support the Proposed Alternative 
Resolution as submitted by the NHSBA for the original Proposed Resolution # 15 as presented 
by the Manchester Board of School Committee. SECOND: B. Tatro. VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.328. 
Motion passes. MOTION: B. Bohannon MOVED to support the recommendation of the 
NHSBA not support the Proposed Resolution #16 as submitted by the Manchester Board of 
School Committees. SECOND: J. Cesaitis. VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.328. Motion passes. 
MOTION: B. Bohannon MOVED to support the Proposed Alternative Resolution as submitted 
by the NHSBA for the original Proposed Resolution #17 as presented by the Manchester Board 
of School Committees. SECOND: C. McDaniel-Thomas. DISCUSSION: J. Rathbun explained 
it should not say “guidance counsel but school counselor”. VOTE: 6.619/0/1.098/5.238. Motion 
passes. MOTION: B. Bohannon MOVED to support the recommendation of the NHSBA to 
delete and remove Resolution IX:D. SECOND: C. McDaniel-Thomas. DISCUSSION: The 



3 

NHSBA does not believe that it is needed. VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.328. Motion passes. MOTION: 
C. McDaniel-Thomas MOVED to ask S.Peters to listen to this Proposed Resolution #19 on the 
floor at the Delegate Assembly. SECOND: S. Lawlor. VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.328. Motion passes. 
MOTION: C. McDaniel-Thomas MOVED to ask S. Peters to vote in support of the Proposed 
Resolution # 19 submitted by the Concord School Board. SECOND: K. Noonan VOTE: 
7.717/0/0/5.328. Motion passes.  

 
 

5. MATTERS FOR SCHOOL BOARD INFORMATION & DISCUSSION: 
 a. Staffing Update: L. Walker reported that there is not much of a change in the number 
of vacancies. She will give an updated report at the first Board Meeting of the month.  
 b. Softball Field Update: The softball field is ready to be put out to bid. They are 
waiting for the field hockey season to be done. There was concern regarding the field hockey field 
and the soccer fields across the street on the MTC side. J. Rathbun assured the members that the new 
fields will be completely up to regulation specifications.  
 
 c. 2023/24 School Board Goals: 
  i. Cohort Review #1: “Ready for School”: J. Rathbun explained that the 
Education/Tech Committee had asked him to speak on Ready for School. He presented the Board 
with a packet to follow. Ready for School is part of the philosophy of the Ed/Tech Committee. Once 
a month he will present a topic which is part of the philosophy statement. This report is not just about 
academics but things we do not have control of. In order for the students to learn there are needs that 
should be met. Basic needs that we do not have control of such as food, clothing, heat, a place to live 
etc.. Parent involvement and support, what are the attitudes of the parents toward education. How do 
they feel and are they involved in education through their children? What is their attitude toward 
education? If the parents do not respect school their children won’t. Early childhood education. Did 
the students go to preschool? This is a huge indicator with future success. It is reported that children 
that went to Pre-K do better. Do the students have access to the internet and transportation? There is 
a study that shows if a student does not feel like they belong in school they do not go to school. Kids 
need social skills, making friendships, participating in extracurricular activities and a sense of 
identity. Homelessness is an issue. These are the big things there are so much more than academics. 
There are some things we can measure socioeconomics, Free and Reduced lunch, Pre K or 
Kindergarten and parent involvement. There are some challenges that are not reported. J. Rathbun 
will bring a topic which is part of the Ed/Tech Philosophy to the Board once a month.  
  ii. Superintendent Search Update: C. McDaniel-Thomas reported that the 
committee met with the Bryant Group. There are 3 other districts looking for a superintendent. Their 
ads have already gone out. Monadnock has sent out a “Save the Date” The response on the 14 Box 
was not great. The committee will leave it open until Wed. night. J. Morin asked what is preventing 
us from putting the ad out for our Superintendent position. The committee will be coming up with 
attributes for the posting. C. McDaniel-Thomas said the next meeting is on Sept. 25, 2023. B. Tatro 



4 

feels that the committee can determine when the ad goes out.  
   
6. SETTING NEXT MEETING’S AGENDA:  
 a. Superintendent Search 
 b. Policies for first read 
 
7. Public Comments:  Deb Gove thanked J. Rathbun for the presentation on Ready for 
School. She said that is the base of everything.  
 
8. 7:57PM NON-PUBLIC SESSION under RSA 91-A:3 II: Matters which, if discussed 
in public, would likely adversely affect the reputation of any person, other than a member 
of the public body itself unless such person requests an open meeting: MOTION: K. 
Noonan MOVED  to enter into Non-Public Session under RSA 91-A:3 II: Matters which, if 
discussed in public, would likely adversely affect the reputation of any person, other than a 
member of the public body itself, unless such person requests an open meeting: SECOND: B. 
Tatro. VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.283. Motion passes.  
 
9. ADJOURNMENT: MOTION: K. Noonan MOVED to adjourn the meeting at 8:28 

PM. SECOND: J. Cesaitis VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.283.  Motion passes.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Laura L. Aivaliotis 
Recording Secretary     VOTING KEY:Yes/No/Abstain/Absent 



Monadnock Regional School District 
  School Board Meeting Minutes 

  Non-Public Session (Not Yet Approved) 
                                                        September 19, 2023 

MRMHS Library, Swanzey, NH 
 

Members Present:  Kristen Noonan, Jeff Cesaitis, Lisa Steadman, Betty Tatro, Brian 
Bohannon, Cheryl McDaniel-Thomas and Stepanie Lawlor. Absent: Edmond LaPlante, 
Dan LeClair, Scott Peters, Eric Stanley, Gina Carraro and Jennifer Strimbeck 
 
Administration Present: L. Walker, Superintendent, J. Rathbun, Assistant 
Superintendent and J. Morin, Business Administrator.  
 
7:57 PM Non-Public Session RSA 91-A:3 II ( c ) Matters which, if discussed in 
public, would likely adversely affect the reputation of any person, other than a 
member of the public body itself, unless such person requests an open meeting.  
 
Issue #1: The administration and the Board had concerns about the timeline for the new 
Superintendent. There is not a pool of candidates but a puddle of candidates out there. 
There are 3 other Superintendent searches going on in other districts. The other concern 
is the “save the date” flier that M. Munson sent out. It included stock pictures, typos and 
did not reflect the colors of Monadnock. Board Members had concerns with 2 principals 
on the Search Committee both being from Swanzey. The administration had wanted to be 
part of the search committee. They are the ones that will be working with the 
superintendent on a daily basis. The Board would like to ask C. McDaniel-Thomas the 
Search Committee Chair to instruct the Bryant Group never to use the “Save the Date” 
flier, move forward with the posting for the superintendent position and to contact the 
NHSBA, The Bryant Group and insist on working with another consultant. The Board 
would ask L. Walker and J. Rathbun to participate in the 14 Box document.  
 
Issue #2: Retirement: MOTION: B. Bohannon MOVED to accept the retirement of 
Ann LaFond as of June 2024 and to waive the 18 month retirement notice as presented by 
the Superintendent. SECOND: S. Lawlor. VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.283. Motion passes.  
 
Issue #3: Retirement: MOTION: B. Bohannon MOVED to accept the retirement of 
Nancy Hart as of January 2025 as presented as the Superintendent. SECOND: C. 
McDaniel-Thomas. VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.283. Motion passes.  



Issue #4: The 3 Board Members on the Superintendent Search Committee would like to 
be able to create a job description for the Superintendent together online. K. Noonan 
would like the Superintendent to seek legal counsel on this issue. 
  
MOTION: S. Lawlor MOVED to leave Non-Public Session. SECOND: B. Bohannon 
VOTE: 7.717/0/0/5.283.  Motion passes.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Laura L. Aivaliotis 
Recording Secretary 


	October 3 2023 School Board Agenda
	Policy Motions September 21 2023
	EHAB MRSD Version
	Policy EHAB_ REDLINE Data Governance and Security
	JCA MRSD Version
	Policy JCA_ Change of Class of School or Assignment Best Interests and Manifest Hardship 
	JKAA MRSD Version
	Policy JKAA_ Use of Restraints and Seclusion
	IMG-4048
	PBS2_publicpolicy_updated
	Slide 1: Public Policy
	Slide 2: Public policy: Taking policy development to the next level 
	Slide 3: Agenda 
	Slide 4: Importance of Policy Development
	Slide 5: Importance of Policy Documents
	Slide 6: Our Policy Journey 
	Slide 7: Policy – District History
	Slide 8: Policy - Investment
	Slide 9: Policy Log In Action
	Slide 10: The Policy Committee
	Slide 11: The Superintendent
	Slide 12: Policy – Roles & Responsibilities
	Slide 13: NHSBA Bulletin Cycles
	Slide 15: Year In Review:  Backlog Volume
	Slide 17
	Slide 18: How Does The Board Prioritize Policy Work?
	Slide 19: Policy Cycle
	Slide 20: Policy Takeaways 
	Slide 21: Dissecting Policies:
	Slide 22
	Slide 23
	Slide 24
	Slide 25
	Slide 26
	Slide 27: Policy Publisher for Diligent Community
	Slide 28
	Slide 29
	Slide 30: 10 Best Tips for Policy Development 
	Slide 31: Managing the Policy Updates : Tips to Succeed
	Slide 32: Thank You!
	Slide 33: We want your feedback!
	Slide 34

	Staffing Changes 2023 - Totals (6)
	MRSD Goals 2023_24
	Board Sept 19 2023
	September 19 2023 non-public c



